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PROFILE

Jupiter Telecommunications Co.. Ltd. (J:COM) is a
leading provider of bundled entertainment, data and
communications services in Japan. We provide our
customers a triple-play of services, including cable
television, high-speed Internet access and telephony
services through our high-speed high-capacity cable network.

We serve approximately 1.8 million customers, and the
company holds 30% of the multi-channel cable television market
in Japan? As Japan’s largest multiple system operator (MS0),
J:COM provides services through a total of 19 managed franchises in
the Kanto, Kansai and Kyushu regions, and the Sapporo area, under
the unified company brand.

A core element of J:.COM's business foundation is the close
relationships, built from trust, with our customers and the local
communities in which we service. It is our mission to provide rich
entertainment and information experiences for our customers by
supplying state-of-the-art digital services and high-quatity products
tailored to meet our customers’ needs.
* As of the end of December 2004.




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (U.s. GAAP)

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Miltions of Yen

2002 2003 2004
Operating Results
Ot aL PBVENUEG oo e e e e e e e ¥116,631 ¥143,159 ¥161.346
Subscription fees ‘ 97,144 123,215 140,826
Cable-television 59,037 70,165 75.866
High-speed Internet 26,854 34,820 40,123
TELEPRONY ©oi e e s 11,253 18,230 24,837
Total operating cOSts anNd @XPENSES ... e 120,314 129957 138,754
Operating income {loss) ..., OSSOSO (3,683) 13,202 22,592
INEEINCOMIE (OS] 1ooviei ittt ettt (7,543) 5357 10,821
BB T DA Y e e e 26,459 49,733 63,249
Financial Position
TOtAL S SEES oottt e s ¥414,761  ¥421,877  ¥439.291
Total shareholders' EQUILY ..o s 59 734 96,769 138,370
Interest-bearing debt [GrOSS] ... 290,674 255,401 231528
Interest-bearing debt [NE) ... e e 283,129 245842 221,109
Total Revenue and ARPU per Household EBITDA and EBITDA Margin
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Millions of Yen (Unless otherwise specified)

2002 2003 2004

Cash Flows

Cash flow from operating activities ¥ 22,682 ¥ 46,965 ¥ 52512

Cash flow from investing activities {47,733] (34,526) (39.882)

Cash flow from financing activities 27,490 [12.199] (9.996)

Free Cash floW! e e (36,417) 8,430 8.158
Per Share Data

Net income (Loss] - basic [YEN] ... ¥ (1917) ¥ 1,214 ¥ 2221

Shareholders’ equity [YEN) ..o 15.183 21,958 28,406
Ratios

EBITDA MBIGIN (%] oottt et 22.7 34.7 39.2

RetUIN 0N @QUILY {%6) «.ooviie oo et (12.6) 5.5 7.8

Debt t0 EBITDA [HiMes]™ ettt 1.0 5.1 37

Debt to equity [IMes]™ s 4.9 2.6 1.7

Notes: 1. Adjusted EBITDA represents operating income [(loss) before depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation charges.

2. Free cash flow is calculated by cash flow provided by operating activities less capital leases and other capital expenditures.

3. Debt to EBITDA and debt to equity ratios are calculated based on gross interest-bearing debt.

Net Income (Loss) Free Cash Flow
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J:COM SNAPSHOT

J:CO0M’S BUSINESS, CHARACTERISTICS AND STRENGTHS

A One-stop Shop for Broadcast and Telecommunications Media — Meeting Our Customers’ Needs through a Single Cable

In addition to our core cable television
service, J:COM utilizes its infrastructure
and networks to provide high-speed
Internet connections and telephone serv-
ices to our customers. We are dedicated
to delivering high-quality services using
the latest technology at competitive
prices.

While cable television accounts for the
lion’s share of our usage fees and sub-
scribers, there has been a significant
rise in Internet and telephone subscrip-
tions in recent years.

Number of
Subscribing Households

Subscription Fee Breakdown
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Japan’s Largest Cable Television Multi-system Operator (MSO) — Efficiency Gained from Merits of Scale

MSO’s Roles and Functions

Purchase

- MSO
\,ﬁ@ S

Negatiation )

Management

Management
Fee

Managed
Franchises

Telephony

Subscription

\ Fees

Use of One Brand

Customers

| COM

J:COM provides broadband services
through 19 managed franchises nation-
wide as an MS0 and boasts a large cus-
tomer base. This gives J:COM an edge in
bulk purchases of programs and equip-
ment and in external negotiations, as well
as allowing us to minimize duplication of
services or functions between stations.
These merits of scale are passed on to our
customers through reasonable pricing
and expanded services.

Leading the Industry with a “Triple-play” Strategy — Contribution to Decreased Churn Rate and Increased ARPU

J:.COM is ahead of ather carriers in
simultaneously providing three high-
quality services. In a highly competitive
environment, this “triple-play” strategy
contributes to steadily increasing our
subscribers, reducing disconnects, and
raising Average Revenue per Unit
(ARPUJ. We will continue to actively pro-
mote this strategy in the future.

Steady Increase of Bundling Ratio

= CATV

{As of Dec. 31, 2001}

= High-speed Internet

{As of Dec. 31, 2004)

= Telephony




J:COM’S BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND POSITION

Cable Television

The domestic penetration rate of multi-
channel pay-TV remains low, but it is
expected to grow in the long term.
J:COM boasts the top share, approxi-
mately 30%, among households sub-
scribing to multi-channel cable televi-
sien.

High-speed Internet

The broadband market is continuing to
expand. Cabte Internet subscriptions
account for approximately 16% of the
total number of DSL, FTTH and cable
Internet subscriptions, and J:COM Net's
share of these is approximately one-
fourth [as of the end of August 2004).

Telephony

With the spread of mobile phones and IP
phanes, the overall fixed line phone mar-
ket is gradually shrinking. The number of
households that subscribe to the high-
quality, relatively low-cost J:COM Phone,
however, continues to grow rapidly.

Mutti-Channel Pay-TV Service Broadband Internet Subscribers Fixed Line Telephony Market
Penetration Rate
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Hoso Journal, SkyPerfect website, National Cable & lines exchuding office use.
Telecormmunications Association, Dffice of Source:
Communications NTT JCOM
Market Share in
Multi-Channel Cable TV Market” (as of Sept. 2004)
Note:
Multi-channel cable TV market
defined as total number of
households with home terminals
Source:
Hoso Jourral, J.COM
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TRENDS IN J:COM’S FINANCIAL RESULTS
J:COM’s revenue increased with the
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large-scale investments in infrastructure 20 | Biions e 80 | Bilonsayer
substantially complete, J:COM turned to ™ TR
profitability and a positive cash flow in 0 rS_&l D 0 @ D omp
2003. In the future, J:COM aims for fur- N ol ‘LEL .
ther growth with a focus on expanded 20| ‘ 75 “ [
and upgraded services. o 40 2 ‘M
210 R -3b
-40 -80 53
FY00 FY01 FY02 FYO3 FYO04 FYO0 FYO1 FY02 FYD3 FY04

I Capital expenditures
0 Free cash flow



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO

Since our founding in 1995, we have consistently strived to maximize
the potential of cable media based on the slogan “From Cable to Super Media,”
all the while maintaining a focus on sustainable growth.

Our total number of subscribers currently exceeds 1.9 million households,
or one in every four households in our service areas. 2005, the tenth year
since our founding, also marks our long-awaited public listing on the Jasdaq
Securities Exchange. As we move forward, we will try to further diversify our
service offerings, improve product quality and solidify our clients’ trust.

At the same time, we will put every possible effort into management in order
to strengthen our financial foundation and meet shareholders’ expectations
for growth, profitability, and stability.

FY2004 (January - December 2004): A Look Back

External operating environment

Japan’s economy showed signs of a strong recovery in FY2003, but slowed again
in FY2004, particularly in the latter half when nominal GDP growth once again
turned negative. However, although personal consumption was lackluster, the
share of spending on information communications continued to rise due to the
rapid diversification of consumer lifestyles. In FY2004, worker household spend-
ing remained at a year-on-year increase of 1.5% but spending on telecommuni-
cations and broadcasting services surged by a robust 5.3%. We believe that
dermand was fueled by the December 2003 launch of terrestrial digital broad-
casting in addition to service and content rollouts by telecommunications carri-
ers. Increased digitalization coupled with advances in home networking should
serve as an enormous spur for even further market growth in the future.

With that said, competition is also intensifying. The large telecommunications
carriers and electric utility companies are entering the broadcasting industry
one after another, competing in all three of our business areas—television,
high-speed Internet access and telephony services.

Solid move to the black coupled with a large profit increase

Though the operating environment provided both advantages and difficulties,
after turning to the black in the previous fiscal year our net income for FY2004
doubled to ¥10.8 billion (US GAAP basis). While subscription fees increased as a
result of a steady growth in subscribers and a rise in average revenue per unit
[ARPU] on the back of growth in high-value added services, we curbed the
increase in fixed costs such as selling, general and administrative expenses.
These led to & higher profit margin, contributing to the sharp rise in net income.




Our total number of subscribers climbed 7% year-on-year while ARPU rose
5%. The jump in the number of telephony service subscribers was particularly
high, at 39%. These results reflect a steady increase in user acceptance of the
quality of our cable, telephony, and Internet services as well as the convenience
of our bundled services. Additicnally, ARPU was boosted in the cable television
and Internet areas by new subscribers using our higher monthly fee, value-
added "J:COM TV Digital” and "J:COM NET Premium” services.

We are also making solid progress in strengthening our balance sheet. We
were able to pay off a portion of our debt using the proceeds of our August 2003
third party new share allocation, which amounted to ¥30 billion. The result:
interest-bearing debt dropped ¥23.9 billion year-on-year to ¥231.5 billion at the
end of FY2004, while our debt to equity ratio improved to 1.7 times from 2.6

times as of the end of the previous fiscal year.

Outlook for FY2005 and Beyond

Turning competition to our advantage

Growth in our industry is fueled by diversification of lifestyles and a perpetual
guest for convenience. Market entry by other cable television operators can be
beneficial in that it stimulates consumers’ desires. Of course, we do not simply
wish for broad-based growth in the overall market. Our aim and firm belief is
that we will come out on top of our competition and be the largest beneficiary of
the market growth.

Improved value leading to rising volume—A virtuous cycle
It is no exaggeration to say the key differentiating factors in this industry are
‘merits of scale” and ‘appealing service improvements.” Since our
founding, we have pursued these two goals relentlessly.
Having become Japan’s largest Multiple System Operator
(MSO] and nearly completed investment in digitization ahead
of others, we will continue to proactively promote our strat-
egy for quantitative expansion while at the same time
improve quality and value. Diversifying and enhancing the
quality of our contents and services is one extremely effec-
tive way to further highlight the expansive scale of the
infrastructure we have built over the past ten years.

First, in cable television, we will bolster our content and
promote our digital service more widely. On the content
front we enjoy two distinct advantages: 1) we have many
human resources with a wealth of experience in the broad-
casting and telecommunication industries, and 2] we main-
tain close relationships with content providers. Taking

Tomoyuki Moriizumi
President and CEO



New Services Will Enhance J:COM’s Growth and Differentiation

High-speed Internet Cable TV } Telephony ‘ Other New Services
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*MDOUs: Multi-dwelling units

advantage of these two major strengths of J:COM, we will step up our efforts to
create and procure quality programming. Additionally, we will further strength-
en our digital-related services by continuing the nationwide build-up of our
video-on-demand (VOD) service and introduction of a digital set top box [STB)

with a built-in hard disk drive. On the Internet front, we will work to realize
speeds of over 100Mbps. And in telephony, we will focus on our primary IP
phone service which also enables emergency calls. In addition to these areas,
we are exploring the introduction of new services that take advantage of digitali-
zation and interactivity, such as home security services.

It goes without saying that these value
improvements are beneficial in terms
of not only enhancing the satisfaction
of existing custommers and thus con-
trolling churn, but also in gaining
new customers. "Value” leads to
“Volume” in this virtuous cycle, a
model for grawth. [Please see
Special Feature and Review of
Operations for details of the
strategies )

}
Akemi Ishii ' / Yasunori Kakemizu
Treasury Dept. ! Assistant Manager
i/ Business Development Depf;




Steady profit growth and strengthening of our financial foundation

We believe that with this dual strategy of Volume plus Value, the potential for
top-line growth remains as large as ever. In addition to approximately 1.6 mil-
lion households that are currently cable television subscribers, we believe we
can shift approximately 3.1 million more households to pay-TV services at low
cost. We are also strengthening our marketing activities aimed at new houses
being developed within J:.COM service areas. Focusing on cultivating these
promising potential customer bases will allow us to expand our number of sub-
scribers. At the same time, value improvements should lead to increased
Revenue Generating Units (RGUs] per subscribing household* and ARPU, while
at the same time reducing our churn rate.

On the expense side, having curbed the increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses and other fixed costs, EBITDA reached the black in
FY2001 and topped approximately ¥43.2 billion {(EBITDA margin of 39%) in FY
2004. Our aim from here on out is to continue our top-line growth while at the
same time maintaining consistent increases in EBITDA.

Strengthening our financial structure is vital to ensuring that we win over the
competition. To this end, our public listing is extremely significant. With the
funds raised through the public listing and our free cash flow, we will reduce
our interest bearing debt including the ¥50 billion subordinated loans, as well as
invest for future growth strategies.

* RGUs per household: average number of services per subscribing household

Kumiko Oyama
Marketing Dept.
Promotion Group



Efforts toward Corporate Governance

J:COM recognizes that bolstering our corporate governance structure is crucial
if we are to maxirnize corporate value over the long term. This will be done by
reinforcing the separation between management execution and monitoring car-
ried out by our Board of Directors and Board of Corporate Auditors, respective-
ly. At the same time, we want to utilize investor relations activities as a tool to
provide management opinions from the capital markets rather than simply a
source of information. Also, in accordance with our belief that “trust is the most
powerful weapan,” we will strengthen compliance with all laws and regulations
and promote the creation of a fully secure system for information security and
risk management within the group as whole.

Message to Stakeholders

To our shareholders and investors:

For the time being we plan to use free cash flow to strengthen our financial
foundation and reinvest in the business for future growth. We will do our utmost
to further improve business performance and to return to you the fruits of our

success in the future.

To our customers: .

To help our customers realize pleasant and affluent lifestyles, we will continue
to make the maximum use of our leading-edge technology network to offer a
variety of services that fuse imaging, audio, and communication at optimal

prices.

To our employees:
Whether or not we satisfy our shareholders and customers is dependent on
your efforts. We will build a system that justly evaluates the results of those

efforts.

The broadcasting and telecommunications industry is marked by rapid changes
in the legal system and competitive environment. We will continue our innova-
tion with a speed that is faster than environmental changes and work to estab-
lish J:COM's position as a leader of the broadcasting and telecommunication

industries.

March 2005

President & CEO
Tomoyuki Moriizumi







SPECIAL FEATURE:

VOLUME PLUS VALUE - OUR TWO-FRONT STRATEGY FOR GROWTH

Growth: From Stage 1 to Stage 2

Growth to date

—Ten years making cable television history

J:COM was established in 1995 with a mission to expand the
potential of cable television as an interactive medium. We
maximized the use of broadband cable lines, starting from
cable television services to which we added telephone serv-
ices in 1997 and Internet services in 1999. We are truly lead-
ing the way in the integration of broadcasting and telecom-
munications.

In 2005, the number of homes passed by our network
reached 6.86 million households (1.9 million of which are
subscribers] and we completed the upgrade of our backbone
network to meet the demands of the digital age. Now that
both our profits and cash flow are in positive territory,
J:COM is advancing from "Stage 1 toward growth,” in which
we focused on the development of our infrastructure and
service foundations, to "Stage 2.

Beating out the competition in Stage 2 of growth

—The Volume plus Value strategy

In the current business environment, various players from
broadcasting, telecommunications and other business sec-
tars have entered the market and are engaged in fierce
competition in terms of service diversity and pricing. While
market vitalization and demand stimulation are serving to
spur growth, our overall competitiveness is being put to the
test in terms of how to get customers to choose J:COM from
among numerous other choices.

Far Stage 2, J:COM will aim for further growth with a two-
front strategy by continuing to pursue merits of scale while
also putting further efforts into increasing the attractiveness
of our services [enhancing quality). Hence, our drive towards
“Volume plus Value.”

Number of Total
Households Connected
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Value Strategy: Distinguishing Qurselves
through Expansion of Value-added Services
to Meet Diverse Needs

Value strategy leads to higher levels of satisfaction among
existing customers, increased revenue generating units
[RGUs) and average revenue per unit [ARPU], and finally a
lower churn rate. it is also the most effective marketing tool
for developing a promising customer base within our service
areas, in other words, for promoting the switch of retrans-
mission househaolds* into pay-TV subscribers, thereby lead-
ing to increased volume.

* Retransmission households: Households connected to the J:COM network, to
which we provide retransmission of terrestrial broadcast signals.

Cable television broadcasting

—Upgrading both enjoyment and content

Television operations are the core of the J:COM brand. We
aim to provide diverse services with high entertainment
value that distinguish us from other operators, underpinned
by enhancement of digital services and content.

* Strengthening digital services

Through the J:COM broadband network, we will provide
services maximally utilizing digital merits such as high
image guality, high sound guality, and interactivity.

Masahiro Kuroki

Business Development Dept.

Manager

Yoko Asakawa
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Business Development Dept;



Staking our claim to be the industry-leader for digital serv-
ices, from December 2003, we launched retransmission of
terrestrial digital broadcasts, upgrading quality and expand-
ing quantity along with BS [broadcast satellite) and CS [com-
munications satellite) digital broadcasts. We also started
pay-per-view (PPV] in April 2004, and in January 2005
became the first cable television operator to begin video-on-
demand services. As a result, our number of digital service
subscribers has reached 250,000 households as of
December 2004, marking an average monthly growth of 20%
since the service was launched.

Digital CATV Subscribers

and Penetration {Monthiy datal
300 § [Thousands! (%l | 18
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O Customers subscribing
to digital TV

= Percentage of total
cable TV customers [RHS)

Going forward, we will enhance our interactive features
and accelerate the roll-out of new services such as set-top
boxes with built-in hard disk drives. Our aim is to attract
new customers as well as to encourage existing customers
to shift from analog to digital services, mindful of our phas-
ing out of CS multi-channel analog services by 2008.

¢ Further enhancement of content

The digital age has given rise to tremendous leaps forward
in television-viewing enjoyment, due to multi-channel serv-
ice and improved image and sound quality. Content has
therefore become the key factor to win customer support.
J:COM will enhance the content we provide in terms of both
quality and quantity, by maximizing our advantages in under-
standing of content and entertainment, coupled with our
ability to gather and analyze data that we possess as a
broadcasting company, including TV rating surveys and audi-
ence research.

At present we boast a portfolio of over 100 channels pro-
viding a full range of coverage from global to local and from
entertainment to documentaries, and will continue to make
efforts to discover and provide new and exciting content. At
the same time, we will focus on improving the quality of
existing programs. J:COM will make the most of our excel-
lent relationship with Jupiter Programming and the rest of
our content providers and work with them to increase the

attractiveness of our content.

Kunimasa Takahashi
Business Development Dept.
Assistant Vice President

L




Telephony
—Primary phones robust, IP phone area expansion ahead
Securing “lifeline” telephone services inhibits churn rate
and is also important in expanding and promoting other
services such as television and [nternet. At J:COM, we offer
a primary phone service that features high quality; reason-
able price setting, including flat-rate calling plans among
subscribers; and no necessity to change phone numbers.
Looking ahead, primary IP telephony that enables emer-
gency calls and use of NTT phone numbers just like our
existing primary phone service, will be a strategic product.
fntroduction of VoIP technology will make service area
expansion, maintenance, and provision to other cable televi-
sion operators easier. We plan to initiate this commercially
in Sapporo from spring 2005, and within the same fiscal
year, we aim to expand service to areas where J:COM does
not yet provide phcne services.

Internet

—~Toward a more convenient communication environment
“High speed,” "stability,” and "security” are the key features
of our Internet business. J:COM provides such high-quality
Internet connection environment using an HFC* infrastruc-
ture.

Hiroshi Kobayakawa
Marketing-Dept.
Promotion Group
Manager

The high-speed Internet connection market continues to
expand, and J:COM is working to further increase our com-
munication speed from the current 30Mbps to 100Mbps and
beyond. By introducing Entropic Communications’ c.Link, an
in-house coaxial cable high-speed communication technolo-
gy, we intend to offer high-speed communication services of
100Mbps and higher to existing multi-dwelling units (MDUs}.
We aim to commerctalize these services in the second half
of 2005. We also plan to introduce FTTH [Fiber to the Home)
targeting newly built MDUs, to meet the strong demand for
optical lines.

*HFC (Hybrid Fiber Coaxl: A network system which uses optical fiber for main
lines from our facilities to user homes, and coaxial cable from user homes to
the inside of the home.

“Triple play” bundling services

—Contributing to a reduced churn rate

J:COM’s greatest advantage is our “triple play” bundling of
television, phone and Internet—our three high quality servic-
es, all of which are competitive in their own right—and offer-
ing them as a one-stop service, at reasonable prices.
Bundling also plays an important rele in reducing churn
rate. We will continue to upgrade our advantage with “triple
play” services that outstrip our competitors in both quality
and cost performance.

Hiroyuki Nakatani
SVP, Marketing, Sales,
Customer Operation




Services that make the most of strong local presence

Cable television's greatest feature and advantage is its
nature as a medium with strong local presence. A “consul-
tative sales” approach—meeting customers face-to-face
and listening to their needs—is one way that we will be able
to provide services that accurately fulfill customer needs
that are increasingly becoming complex. Moreover, in addi-
tion to producing community channels specializing in infor-
mation provision for daily life in localities, we will advance
the development of home security services and administra-
tive, educational, welfare and medical related services, by
utilizing digital interactivity and our close relationship with
the local community.

Average Monthty Churn Rate
Comparison lfor 2004}
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Cable TV All 3services
subscribers  subscribers

Mitsuyo Mizohata
Marketing Dept.
Kansai Region Manager

Volume Strategy: Continuing Quantitative Expan-
sion Including Strategic Alliances with Other
Cable Television Operators

Improving industry presence and growth through strategic
alliances with other operators

Meanwhile, we will continue to promote a guantitative
expansion strategy. As facility amortization periods grow
sharter and investments of several hundreds of million yen
become necessary in short cycles, the importance of volume
strategy is growing further.

Expanding scale means broadening the range of services
and increasing responsiveness to technologies that are
growing in complexity. Moreover, as we face off against our
future competitors, especially telecommunications business
operators that have nationwide networks, visibility and great
capital strength, the cable television industry as a whole will
need to pursue merits of scale.

In addition to accelerating network expansion, acquiring
geographically proximate franchises and promoting the shift
of 3.1million retransmission households (as of the end of
December 2004) into pay-TV subscribers, we will also be
advancing with the formation of strategic partnerships with
other cable television operators.

Michael G. Losier
Director
SVP, Marketing & Sales



Specifically, we will actively implement provision of cable
television digital distribution services and primary IP phone
services. Regarding digital transmission services, we have
reached a basic agreement to provide digital broadcasts, as
well as PPV and other services to two operators affiliated
with Mediatti Comrmunications. We also plan to build a
nationwide cable television network that links service areas
ranging from Hokkaido to Kyushu via optical fibers and pro-
vide a content distribution network unique to the cable
industry. Regarding primary [P phone services, we are now
considering a wide-area coalition with leading operators
from around Japan.

These alliances expand services and reduce additional
investment loads of our partners while providing J:COM with
increased revenue and improved capacity utilization rates.
Through such win-win relationships, we aim to target fur-
ther income expansion.

While the cable television industry is a major media player
that boasts about 16.5 million subscribing households,* it
does have the weakness of low visibility because it is seg-
mented. J:COM is contributing to improving the overall pres-
ence of the cable industry by building a national network.

*The number of cable television [licensed facilities conducting independent
broadcasts| subscribers as of the end of 2003.

Sustaining Growth and Improving
Carporate Yalue Through the Two-front Strategy
of Volume plus Value

Through this kind of Volume plus Value strategy, J:COM will
continue to sustain top-line growth.

As a triple player combining world-class performance,
operations, and a robust financial profile, we will continue to
realize powerful operating revenue from increases in the
number of households connected, RGUs, and ARPU. One
franchise (J:COM Higashi-Kanto) has already exceeded an
ARPU of ¥8,000 and reached 1.99 RGUs. One of our objec-
tives is to have the entire group reach similar levels. We will
also aim for improvement in financial indicators such as
EBITDA and EBITDA margin, as well as net income and free
cash flow, which moved into the black from FY2003.

In order to forge ahead with our growth strategy, we will
also work to strengthen our financial foundation. We will
repay our liabilities for up-front investment while effectively
utilizing the funds procured froam going public, work to opti-
mize our capital to debt ratio, and aim to imprave our finan-
cial flexibility.

In this way, we will improve our business structure in terms
of both profitability and soundness, and pursue the continual
increase of our corporate value while cementing our positicn
as a broadcasting and telecommunications leader.

ARPU and RGU per Household
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CABLE TELEVISION

Business Features and Advantages
Cable television is J:COM’s core
business. Alt of the group’s 1¢ man-
aged franchises provide these serv-
ices and we boast an overwhelming
30% share of households viewing
multi-channel cable television.

*Providing a rich array of quality
content at low prices
J:COM’s key advantage is our rich
array of quality conient which we
provide utilizing our close relation-
ships with Jupiter Programming
(JPC) and other cortent providers.
J:COM TV provides about 50 analog
broadcast channels, while J:COM TV
Digital offers a total of over 100 ter-
restrial, broadcast satellite (BS) and

| €
Yohei Myogan

Customer Operations Dept.
Kanto Customer Center
Service & Billing Group
CSR Team Leader

communications satellite (CS) digitat
broadcast channels. The basic
moanthly charge is sufficient to view
the majority of the programs, and
thus we offer a cheaper service than
our competitors. We are also highly
rated for the convenience we provide
by making all types of broadcasts
viewable from a single terminal.

el eading the cable television indus-
try with digital services
Through such accomplishments as
initiating terrestrial digital broad-
cast retransmission services along
with the start of broadcasting in
December 2003, and offering all
broadcasts in high definition, J:COM
has taken the lead in the digital

broadcasting industry.

In April 2004, we officially
launched our digital services,
including pay-per-view (PPV). In May

Yoshiko Kube

Customer Operations Dept.
Kanto Custgmer Center
Service & Billing Group
’Team Leaderj

2004, we teamed up with JPC,
Sumitomo Corporation and Liberty
Media International to form Jupiter
VOD, a content provision company
oriented toward video-on-demand
(VOD), and began providing the first-
ever VOD services by a cable televi-
sion company in January 2005 in
Tokyo. The number of digital service
subscribers had reached about
250,000 households, or 15% of total
cable television subscribers at the
end of 2004.

Business Environment and Strategy
Although J:COM boasts top ranking
in the cable television industry, it is
competing with CS broadcasts and
BS broadcasts in the area of multi-
channel broadcasting. Moreover,
competition is growing more
intense. Due to deregulation,
telecommunications businesses are
now able to enter the broadcasting
business, and are starting to distrib-
ute images using broadband lines.

At the same time, lifestyle diversi-
fication and digitalization are pro-
ducing fresh opportunities.
Moreover, Japan's multi-channel
pay-TV penetration rate is less than
20%, and penetration of J:COM’s
service against the number of serv-
iceable households ("homes
passed”) remains at only 23%.*
Therefore, it can be said that there
is still considerable room for busi-
ness expansion.

In such an environment, we will
look to expand profits by enhancing
guality of services and collaborating
with other cable television opera-
tors.

*As of the end of December 2004. The penetra-
tion rate reflects the increase in the number of
homes passed resulting from the introduction of
a new mapping system and database update.




*Enhancing quality of services
Content is the cornerstone of com-
petitiveness. J:COM will work along-
side content providers to improve
quatlity, and will continue to promote
the acquisition of leading programs.

We are also strengthening our dig-
ital services. We plan to start provid-
ing VOD service nationwide by mid-
2005, and are considering a flat-rate
service schedule for monthly fees.
We are also preparing for commer-
cialization of a digital set-top box
[STB) that enables use of VOD and
high-quality digital recording for the
second half of 2005. In addition, we
witl accelerate the development of
new services with the aim of mare
effectively utilizing the bandwidth
that will become available when we
discontinue our CS multi-channel
analog services in 2008.

* Providing services to other cable
television operators
By providing digitat services and
content to other cable television
operators, we are diversifying our
income sources and contributing to
the promotion of digitalization of the
industry as a whole. Starting in April
2005, we plan to provide digital
transmission services including dig-
ital broadcasts and PPV to two oper-
ators affiliated with Mediatti
Communications. We are also lead-
ing a plan to build a nationwide
cable television network that links
service areas ranging from
Hokkaido to Kyushu via optical
fibers, by which we plan to provide
digital services to our business part-
ners.

Subscription Fee
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Shunichi Sakurai

Media Saitama Co., Ltd.
Sales Dept.

Manager

Business Results in FY2004 and
Future Outlook

Against the backdrop of increases in
number of subscribers and ARPU
following the start of digital servic-
es, the number of subscribing
households grew 4% year-on-year
to 1,593,000 at the end of FY2004,
while subscription fees also
increased 8% to ¥75.9 billion.

The penetration rate at the end of
FY2004 was 23%, but some franchis-
es [namely, J:COM Kanto and
Higashi-Kanto) have produced
results exceeding 28%. We see digi-
tal services as an engine for growth
going forward, and look to continue
to increase our overall penetration

rate.
21
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Penetration rate of 23.2% reflects the increase
inthe number of homes passed resulting from
the introduction of a new mapping system and
database update.
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HIGH-SPEED INTERNET

Business Features and Advantages
We provide high-speed Internet
services under the J:COM NET
brand name. @NetHome Co., Lid., a
100% subsidiary of J:COM, is the
operator of our Internet connection
business in the Kanto, Kyushu and
Sapporo areas. In the Kansai area,
we are working in partnership with
our equity method zffiliate, Kansai
Multimedia Service Co., Ltd.

*Providing a high-speed, stable,
“always-on” connection at a rea-
sonable price

Through employment of a hybrid -

fiber coax (HFC) network, we are

realizing highly stable, high-speed,
high-quality constant connection
services at competitive prices. In
addition to J:COM NET's best-effort
downstream connectivity speed of
8Mbps for our price-conscious cus-
tomers, in September 2003, we
introduced J:COM NET Premiere,
which targets our users who value

communication speed and offers a

best-effort downstream connectivity

of 30Mbps.

e Full subscriber services

By including a maximum of five e-
mail accounts at no additional
charge, complete security services
that include virus scan and parental
control, and family-friendly product
design in our basic package, we are
distinguishing ourselves from our
competitors. We provide exclusively
to our customers over 17 channels
and 100 titles of attractive broad-
band contents in numerous areas of
interest. J:COM NET Premiere is
also introducing as an optional serv-
ice a wireless LAN integrated
modem that supports home net-
working.

Business Environment and Strategy
While the high-speed Internet con-
nection market continues to expand,
a price war between operators is
ongoing as Asymmetrical Digital
Subscriber Lines (ADSL] and Fiber
to the Home (FTTH] users rapidly
increase. In particular, demand for
FTTH is expanding against a back-
drop of usage charge decreases.
Although FTTH subscribers account
for onty about 10% of cable, ADSL
and FTTH users combined, their
numbers are growing considerably.
Although the competitive envi-
ronment is severe, J:COM plans
to distinguish itself from the
price cutters. We aim to con-
tinue steadily increasing sub-
scribers and curtailing discon-
nects through maintenance and
improvement of quality services
that achieve customer satisfac-
tion.

Masaichi Sato
@NetHome Co., Ltd.

Access Operations Network Engineeri\r\g

Manager

e Faster communication speeds

We aim to further increase Internet
access speed as part of our service
upgrading measures. We will
employ c.Link, the high-speed in-
house coaxial cable communication
technology developed by Entropic
Communications. Since it will utilize
existing netwerks, there will be no
need for large-scale additional
investment. We implemented trial
service aimed at realizing down-
stream Internet access speeds of
100Mbps or faster in multi-dwelling
units (MDUs] from October to
November 2004. After examining
speed and stability, we aim to put it

into practical use in the second half
of FY2005.




e/mplementing FTTH

We are alsa promoting FTTH. In par-
ticular, we plan to introduce FTTH
services targeting newly built MDUs,
an area where demand is high from
a rnarketing standpoint.

Business Results in FY2004 and
Future Qutiook

The number of subscribers as of the
end of December 2004 was 752,000,
a 19% year-on-year increase.
Thanks to an increase in sub-
scribers to J:COM NET Premiere,
which has higher monthly fees, sub-
scription fees also increased to
¥40.1 billion, a 15% year-on-year
increase.

Going forward, we aim to increase
subscribers through continued
efforts to improve customer satis-
faction by enhancing basic services,
focusing on contents and security
services, and increasing connection
speed.

Songae Che
@NetHome Co., Ltd.
Sales & Marketing
Sales

(==}
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TELEPHONY

Business Features and Advantages
J:COM provides primary fixed-line
telephony services an a par with the
NTT group and other telecommuni-
cations carriers, through 16 of its
managed franchises.

*Providing high-quality services at
discount prices
J:COM PHONE offers a "primary”
fixed-line telephony service that
provides local number portability
[which allows users to continue
using NTT telephone numbers] and
enables emergency calls to police
and fire departments. We require no
tine rights fee, and our monthly fee,
calling fees and option menus are
set at lower prices than other large
telecommunications carriers across
the board.

Business Environment and Strategy
As a result of the proliferation of
mobile telephones and IP phones,
and the entry of new businesses into
the fixed-line telephony business
through the utilization of dry copper,
the number of fixec-line telephone
subscribers to NTT is gradually
decreasing. Competition is also
intensifying, with all carriers lower-
ing call charges and NTT phasing-
out its subscriber rights system in
addition to lowering its charges.

J.COM sees this market vitaliza-
tion as a boost to its activities. By
securing contracts for a “lifeline”
telephone service, there is subse-
quently a probability of subscription
to other services, as well as an
inhibiting effect on termination of
subscription. Accordingly, we will
work to expand our telephone serv-
ice provision area and encourage
subscription.

Number of Subscribers and

Subscription Fee
Penetration Rate
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Note:

Penetration rate of 12.1% reflects the increase
in the number of homes passed resulting from
the introduction of a new mapping system and
database update

e Startup of primary IP phone services
Primary IP phone services that utilize
VolP technology are a strategic prod-
uct for the future. We will startup this
service in Sapporo from spring 2008,
and will expand it to areas not yet

serviced by J:COM PHONE. We also
plan to promote provision to other

cable television companies, and are
now considering a wide-area coali-

tion centering on dominant cable sta-

tions in major regions.

Business Results in FY2004 and
Future Outlook

Our telephone services continued to
record high growth in FY2004. The
year-end number of subscribing
households was 773,000, a 40%
year-on-year increase, while
subscription fees also

increased to ¥24.8 billion, up

36%.

We will aim to increase the
number of subscribing
households and penetration
rate by continuing to aggres-
sively promote marketing cen-
tered on bundled services and

expanding our service area,

Takeshi Abe

J:COM Kanto Co., Ltd.

Tokyo Technical Center

Engineering Service Group, HE Team

focusing on primary IP telephony.




COMMUNICATING WITH PEOPLE AND SOCIETY

J:COM never forgets that business
development and societal develop-
ment go hand in hand. We are
therefore active in contributing to
local communities, which form the
backbone of our business. We also
understand that our employees are
part of these communities and
make every effort to ensure that
they are treated properly.

Communicating with Local Communi-
ties: Community-based Social Contri-
bution

The greatest characteristic and
strength of a cable television compa-
ny is its closeness to the community.
Through face-to-face sales activities,
we have the advantage of being able
to respond directly to our custormers’
needs and provide services that are
useful in their daily lives. Qur com-
munity channels not anly provide
local news, weather, traffic, real
estate and shopping information, but
also broadcast live local events,
which helps to revitalize local com-
munities. Looking toward greater
interactivity brought about by digital-

"ization advances, we are working

hard to develop new services, includ-
ing home security and services
designed for the elderly.

We are also involved in community
crirne prevention, with our sales
staff working in close cooperation
with local police forces on anti-
crime patrols.

1; J:COM actively recruits sales staff
from local communities and pro-
vides training, thus contributing to
the local economy and local employ-
rfnent. We are also strengthening
our consultative sales through
elmpkoyment of human resources
with detailed knowledge of local
areas.

r‘ Our ultimate aim is for these activ-
i‘ties to help improve the daily lives
<ij local residents. In so doing, we
will move forward together as trust-
ing partners, working for cur mutual
development.

Communicating with Employees

We believe that it is our responsibili-
ty as a company to provide a healthy
working environment and ensure
t|hat each and every J:COM employ-
ee, who is part of the team support-
ing our business, has the opportuni-
fy to demonstrate his or her full
potential.

'
!
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Noriko Choraku |
Marketing Dept. |
Promotion Group,

]

i

Mt

To enhance employees’ work-relat-
ed skills and boost professional
motivation, we are improving our
training system. We provide general
and specialized training under an
“open class” system whereby
employees, regardless of job
description can receive training in a
job-related area, or a particular area
of interest.

We also place great importance on
our employees” “spiritual wellbe-
ing.” We have launched a mental
health care program for all employ-
ees, which provides counseling
services by phone, Internet or inter-
view. We are also working to raise
awareness about mental health in
the workplace through effective
training, as well as pamphlets and

e-mail magazines.

* Hiroyuki Kokuho
Human Resources Dept.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Effective corporate governance requires efficient
management and innovative corporate development. It
is imperative that the company and its stakehotlders
share the bonds of trust, embracing shareholders and
investors, without forgetting about our wider commu-
nity responsibility. J:COM’s mission is to maintain
momentum towards the construction of an optimal and
effective system of corporate governance. Our efforts
in building an effective system of corporate gover-
nance include many activities, spanning corporate
ethics to establishing effective internal control sys-
tems, as well as enhancing compliance programs and
the constant management of business risks.

Corporate Governance Structure

J:COM currently utilizes a corporate governance struc-
ture designed to ensure efficiency and transparency in
the execution of management duties centered around
the Board of Directors and Corporate Auditors.

The Board of Directors at J:COM are responsible for
the formulation of management policies and business
plans, the acquisition or liquidation of important assets
and decision-making with regard to important structur-
al or personnel matters. They oversee everyday busi-
ness decisions at the company and its subsidiaries. The
Board of Directors is comprised of 13 members, includ-
ing six external directors, who meet for a regular Board
Meeting, in principle, once every three months.
Extraordinary Board Meetings are also held as
required. A total of 15 Board Meetings were held in
FY2004. _

The Board of Corporate Auditors is comprised of four
members, including two external auditors. The audi-
tors’ role is to oversee business operations as a whole
and see that they are executed in line with the audit
plan formulated by the Board of Corporate Auditors.
This plan covers all aspects of business, including com-
pany policy, planning, procedural validity, business
effectiveness, legal matters, and status of compliance.
The Board also receives reports from its financial audi-
tars concerning the method and results of financial
audit, and reports from the Internal Auditing
Department concerning in-house audits. These reports
form the basis of regular presentations on auditing
reports made by the Board of Corparate Auditors to the
President and CEO and the Board of Directors.

In addition to the meetings of the Board of Directors
and Board of Corporate Auditors, a Management
Steering Committee comprising a number of directors
and Senior Vice Presidents meet, in principle, once a
month. The Management Steering Committee reviews
important matters related to the management, includ-
ing matters relating to the J:COM group’s business
results, provides recommendations for extraordinary
board meetings and offers advice for appropriate exe-
cution of senior management duties.

J:COM works hard to enhance and expand the various
functions detailed above. Efforts include considering how
the opinions of shareholders can be reflected in manage-
ment operations. With these considerations in mind, we
organize the General Shareholders’ Meeting on a date
and at a venue that can accommodate the largest num-
ber possible of our shareholders. We also distribute
understandable documentation, with the ultimate goal of
achieving an “open General Meeting” during which we
can hear the opinions of our shareholders.

Yukihiro Yoshida
Executive Vice President and CAQ



Strengthening and Ensuring Compliance

The compliance responsibility of all J:COM employees
who support our company is the basis from which we
create social trust. J:COM management distributes a
“Compliance Manual” that contains and documents
specific J:COM guidelines to all managers and employ-
ees, thus effectively raising awareness on a company-
wide level. The "Compliance Committee” that is under
the leadership of an Executive Vice President, is work-
ing to further expand such areas as issue prevention
and employee education and training.

Should a compliance-related issue arise, it is report-
ed and handled through a chain of command starting
with the head of the division in question, who reports to
the J:COM Planning & Administration Division.

Strengthening Information Management

J:COM regularly holds meetings with its Information
Security Committee, with the constant goal of enhanc-
ing information security. One example of such efforts is
the project to acquire the privacy mark certification for
all J:COM companies (20 in total), in accordance with
the Personal Information Protection Act that will come
into place in April 2005. All J:COM companies have
completed the submission of their applications by the
end of March and following on-site checks implement-
ed by the Japan Information Processing Development
Corporation [JIPDEC), we expect to receive certifica-
tion. We are also taking measures to deat
with any security holes in our systems,
including user ID management, access
log management, employee
entrance/exit management , and
measures against information leaks
such as encryption.

Akiko Naganuma
Marketing Dept.

Planning & Research Group
Supervisor

Risk Management

Anticipating various contingencies, in particular natural
disasters, J:COM is creating a structure that ensures
stable provision of its broadcast and telecommunica-
tions services. The system management centers (SMC)
located in the Kanto, Kansal and Kyushu regions moni-
tor the networks on a 24-hour basis, and in case of sys-
tem anomalies or damage, the SMC provide prompt
directions to technicians who will repair the system.

In addition, J:COM also utilizes an uninterruptible
power supply system and generators, along with double
safety back-up measures for broadcast and telecom-
munications facilities. In these ways J:.COM is making
every effort to ensure the establishment of a robust and
responsive system.

Gregory B. Armstrong
Executive Vice President and COO
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CORPORATE OFFICERS

President and CEO
Tomoyuki Moriizumi

Executive Vice President and COO

Gregory B. Armstrong

Executive Vice President and CAQ
Yukihiro Yoshida

Managing Director and CFO
Akihiko Haruyama
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Director
Michael G. Losier

Director
Shunzo Yamaguchi

Director
Toru Kato

Director

Shingo Yoshii

Director

Shigeru Ohashi

Director
Seiichi Morimoto

Director

Miranda T.C. Curtis

Director

Graham E. Hollis

Director

Yasushige Nishimura

Statutory Auditor
Tsugubhito Aoki

Statutory Auditor
Masatoshi Hayashi

Statutory Auditor
John Sandoval

Statutory Auditor
Hitoshi Yoshimura

[As of March 31, 2005)
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FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY (u.s. GAAP)

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

J

Millions of Yen

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Operating Results
Revenue

Subscription fees
Cable-telaViSION ..o e e ¥ 20,811 ¥ 39314 ¥ 59,037 ¥ 70,165 ¥ 75866
High-speed INternet ... 3,388 13,686 26,854 34,820 40123
TelephOny oo 2,130 5,747 11,253 18,230 24,837
Subscription fees total 26,329 58,747 97144 123,215 140,826
Other o e 9,489 17,814 19,487 19,944 20,520

Total FEVEMUE oo, 35,818 76,561 116,631 143,159 161,346 -
Operating costs and eXpenses ... 55,504 100,309 120,314 129,957 138754
Operating iNCome [LOSS) ..o, (19,686)  (23,748) [3,683) 13,202 22,592
NEt INCOME ILOSS) oo en e [23,498)  [26,964) [7,543) 5,351 10,821
BB T DA I e e [4,199] 6,954 26,459 49,733 63,249
Capital expenditures ... . 43,935 62,596 59,099 38,535 44,354
Purchased capital expenditures 35,398 48,386 48,108 32,478 31,793
Capital LEASES oo e 8,537 14,210 10,991 6,057 12.561
Financial Position

20 TOtal @SSEES oiiviis e ¥277.549  ¥369,923 ¥414,761 ¥421,877 ¥439.291
Total shareholders’ equity ..o, 94,075 67,213 59,734 96,769 138370
Interest-bearing debt (Gross) 141,377 244,518 290,676 255401 231529
Capital lease obligations ......... 19,576 30,447 35,353 31,131 31.805
Interest-bearing debt [Net] ........... 138,368 239,410 283,129 245842 221,109

Notes: 1. Adjusted EBITDA represents operating income (loss] before depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation charges.
2. Free cash flow is calculated by cash flow provided by operating activities less capital leases and other capital expenditures.
3. Debt to EBITDA and debt to equity ratios are calculated based on gross interest-bearing debt.
4. Operational data does not include figures for J:COM Chofu Co., Ltd. which became a consolidated managed franchise on February 25, 2005.
5. The number of homes passed for 2004 reflects the increase resulting from the introduction of a new mapping system and database update.




Millions of Yen (Unless otherwise specified)

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Cash Flows
Cash flow from operating activities ¥ 44170 ¥ 3318 ¥ 22,682 ¥ 46965  ¥52512
Cash flow from investing activities (36,263) (70,842) (47,733) (34,526) (39.882)
Cash flow from financing activities 33,345 69,642 27,490 {12,199) (9.996)
Free cash flows ™ e (39,525) (59,278) (36,417) 8,430 8.158
Per Share Data
Net income (loss] - basic [yen] ... ¥ (7.699) ¥ (6,854) ¥ [1917) ¥ 1214 ¥ 2221
Shareholders’ equity (yen} 30,821 17,084 15,183 21,958 28,406
Ratios
EBITDA mMargin (%) ..o e (11.7) 9.1 22.7 34.7 39.2
Return on equity (%) .o (25.0) (40.1) (12.6) 55 7.8
Debt to EBITDA [Himes) M . e (33.7) 35.2 11.0 5.1 3.7
Debt to equity [HMes) ™ L e 1.5 3.6 L9 2.6 1.7
Operational Data ™
Homes passed (thousands]
Cable-teleVisSion . ... 4,755 5,607 5,810 5,959 6,862
High-speed Internet ..o 4,064 5,354 5,750 5947 6.850
TEl@PNONY oot e e 1,364 1,788 2,883 4,216 6.370
Subscribers [thousands)
Cable-television ... 817 1,192 1,423 1,527 1.593
High-speed INernet ... 141 321 504 633 752
TelePhony oo 73 166 350 554 773
Total households connected 866 1,291 1,591 1,755 1.873
ARPU per household [yen) ... 4,988 5,829 6,183 6,779 7,090
RGU per household ... 1.19 1.30 1.43 1.55 1.66
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

1. Overview

We are currently the largest centrally managed MSO of
cable television, high-speed Internet and telephony serv-
ices in Japan as measured by total customers, with
approximately 1.9 million customers as of December 31,
2004. We offer our services through 19 managed local
cable companies, which we refer to as cur managed
franchises, in 16 of which we own z cantrolling equity
investment and which are consolidated for financial
reporting purposes. In addition to our managed franchis-
es, we hold non-controlling equity investments of
between 5.5% to 20.4% in three cable franchises and an
MSC that we do not manage. We refer to these cable
companies as our non-managed investments. We also .
wholly own @NetHome Co., Ltd., a provider of Internet
access and rich broadband content delivered over
@NetHome's private network, which was added to our
consolidated group in March 2002. We also wholly own
Cable Systems Engineering Corporation, a provider of
installation services for cable television franchises which
we acquired in July 2004. We atso own 50.0% of Jupiter
VOD Co., Ltd., a video-on-demand content provider in
which we made our injtial investment in May 2004.

The cable television industry in Japan historically has
been characterized by a large number of small opera-
tors, many of which began as joint ventures between
multiple parties such as local companies, local govern-
ments, major trading companies and media companies.
A major part of our business strategy has been to
acquire interests in complementary franchises so that
we can enjoy the economies of scale of a large MSO.

Our results of operations histarically have been signifi-

cantly affected by: .

¢ rapid expansion of our customer base through both
the acquisition of additional franchises and increasing
penetration rates in our service areas;

» high levels of capital expenditures made to integrate
acquired franchises and to upgrade our entire network
to a standard architecture of fiber optic and coaxial
cable with spectrum capacity of 750 Mhz/770 Mhz; and

* the increased availability of our high-speed Internet
and telephony services across our service areas, and
the increase in the average number of our services to
which our customers subscribe.

Qver the past few years, the pace of our new franchise
acquisitions has decreased, and we have focused on the
addition of previously unconsolidated franchises to our
consolidated group to realize increased operating efficien-
cies and scaled cost savings. Although we recorded net
losses through the year ended December 31, 2002, these
losses had been decreasing annually with the growth of
our customer base. For the year ended December 31, 2003,
we had net income of ¥5,351 million and for the year ended
December 31, 2004, we had net income of ¥10,821 million.

Prafit Structure

Revenue

Subscription Fees. Our subscription fees consist of sub-
scription fees from our cable television, high-speed
Internet and telephony services.

We focus on increasing the number of our total cus-
tomers and the number of service offerings to which each of
our customers subscribe. Our subscription fees are influ-
enced principally by the pace of our customer growth, which
reflects the addition of new customers offset by the number
of customers that disconnect one ar more of our services.
We refer to the pace of customer disconnects as “churn.”

For customers who subscribe to more than one of our
network services, we charge a bundled service rate which is
less than the aggregate price for individual network services.

Other Revenue. Our other revenue is comprised primarily
of installation charges for new customers, commissions
and fees received from content providers, sales of con-
struction and installation related materials and program-
ming, principally to our unconsolidated managed franchis-
es and advertising revenue that we receive in connection
with our cable television and high-speed Internet services.
Our other revenue is influenced primarily by the pace of
customer growth. In addition, because other revenue
includes management fees and ather charges to our
unconsolidated managed franchises, it is also impacted by
the aggregate number of customers in our unconsolidated
managed franchises and the addition of previously uncon-
solidated managed franchises to our consolidated group.




Costs and Expenses

Operating and Programming Costs. Operating and pro-
gramming costs include costs related to the operation,
mainienance and technical support of our network, and
the costs to acquire programs and other content that
we provide to customers and that we sell to our uncon-
solidated managed franchises. These are impacted pri-
marily by the pace of subscriber growth in each of our
service cfferings, and additionally by the volume of
usage by our telephony service subscribers.

Selling. General and Administrative. Our selling, general
and administrative expenses consist primarily of wages,
salaries and benefits paid to our in-house and contract
employees, including staffing and other costs associated
with our customer call support centers and our sales
and marketing personnel. Selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses also include promotion and commission
expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition of
new customers as well as cur general operating over-
head costs and expenses. Over the past several periods,
our selling, general and administrative expenses have
decreased as a percentage of revenue as a result of our
increased revenue, our management’s focus on creating
efficiencies in scaled operations across our franchises
and the relative decrease in our customer acquisition
costs and other relatively constant or fixed overhead
expenses over an increasing customer base.

Depreciation and Amortization. Our depreciation and amor-
tization expense is principally comprised of depreciation of
our investment in our network. We expect our depreciation
and amortization expense to increase in future periods in
connection with incremental capital expenditures related
to further upgrades of our network, including capital
expenditures related to our conversion from analog to digi-
tal. We also expect our depreciation expense to increase in
future periods as a result of network assets to be acquired
through potential acquisitions of additional franchises, and
capital investment for the integration, upgrade and expan-
sion of the network of franchises that we may acquire.

Income Taxes. Each of the companies within cur consoli-
dated group is individually subject to Japanese national
corporate tax, an inhabitant tax and a deductible enter-
prise tax on income, which in aggregate currently result

in a maximum statutory income tax rate of approximately
42% for each company. Since 1995, many of the compa-
nies within our consolidated group have incurred operat-
ing losses for Japanese income tax purposes. We do nat
currently qualify for filing a consolidated tax return. As a
result, certain portions of our consolidated group’s net
operating loss carryforwards may not be realizable as
such loss carryforwards can only be used to offset tax-
able income in future periods of those members of our
consolidated group that generated the net operating loss.
The maximum period for net operating loss carryfor-
wards for Japanese corporations was extended from five
to seven years for tax losses incurred in fiscal years
starting on aor after April 1, 2001. Because the companies
that generated these net operating loss carryforwards
are more likely than not to continue generating net oper-
ating losses, we have established valuation allowances
against deferred tax assets, including net operating loss
carryforwards. As our franchises become profitable and
start reporting taxable income, we will re-evaluate the
need for such valuation allowances. Generally, the reduc-
tion of valuation allowance results in a deferred tax bene-
fit in the year recognized. However, certain of our
deferred tax assets were acquired in connection with past
business combinations, and when we recognize these.
deferred tax assets through reductions to our valuation
allowances or when we realize them through the applica-
tion of net operating loss carryforwards as a reduction of
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current tax expense, we will first be required to reduce
gocdwill and other intangibles, with any remaining
amount reflected as a deferred tax benefit. As a result of
not having consolidated group tax returns, our consoli-
dated effective tax rate will vary from period to period
based upon the amount of taxable income generated by
the individual members of our consolidated group and
changes in the individual members’ deferred taxes,
including their available net operating loss carryforwards.

Other Operating Data

Franchise Revenue Per Customer. Franchise revenue
per customer is determined for any period as total rev-
enue of our managed franchises, excluding revenue
attributable to installation charges for new customers
and fees paid to us by building owners related to terres-
trial blockage, divided by the weighted-average number
of connected customers during the period.
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Churn Rate. With respect to any service, we calculate the
average monthly churn rate by dividing the number of dis-
connects from the service during a period by the monthly
weighted-average number of subscribers during the same
period, and then dividing by the number of months in that
period. The churn rate for each service can be influenced
by many factors. For example, the churn rate we experi-
ence from subscribers in rental MDUs is typically higher
than that of subscribers in condominiums or single-

dwelling units. Also, we typically experience seasonally
high churn in the early part of the year as a result of the
high number of Japanese company personnel relocations,
which usually take place during March each year. In addi-
tion, the churn rate experienced for each service is typically
lower in homes subscribing to more than one service as a
result of the bundled price offered for multiple service sub-
scriptions and the increased loyalty of those customers.

Il. Results of Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Revenue
Total revenue incraased by ¥18,187 million, or 13%, from
¥143,159 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to
¥161,346 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Subscription fees increased 14% year-on-year to
¥140,826 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Cable television subscription fees increased by 8% to
¥75,866 million, high-speed Internet subscription fees
increased by 15% to ¥40,123 million, and telephony sub-
scription fees increased by 36% to ¥24,837 million. These
increases were primarily the result of cable television,
high-speed Internet and telephony subscriber growth in
our consolidated franchises. The increase in cable televi-
sion subscription revenue was due in part to the increas-
ing proportion of cable television subscribers who sub-
scribe to our digitzl service, for which we charge a higher
fee compared to the analog service. The increase in high-
speed Internet subscription fees was attributable in part
to increasing penetration of our premium 30Mbps high-
speed Internet service, which was introduced in the fourth
quarter of 2003 and for which we charge our subscribers
fees higher than those for our 8Mbps basic high-speed
Internet service subscription service. However, this
increase was partly offset by a price decrease made to
our 8Mbps high-speed Internet service subscribers con-
currently with the introduction of our 30Mbps product.
The increase in high-speed Internet service subscription
fees was also attributable in part to an increase in sales
of high-speed Internet access services by @NetHome to
customers of our unconsolidated managed franchises
and to third parties. The increase in telephony subscrip-
tion fees attributable to subscriber growth was partly off-
set by a decrease in the average monthly telephone call
revenue per subscriber resulting from a decrease in the
average call volume of our telephony subscribers.

Other revenue increased 3% year-on-year to ¥20,520
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The
increase was primarily attributable to fees charged by
our new subsidiary Cable Systems Engineering
Corporation for installation services provided to our affili-
ates and third parties, and a 5% increase in revenue from
third parties in connection with the extension of our net-
work to homes obstructed from terrestrial broadcast
signals. These increases were partly offset by a 18%
decrease in installation charges due to a decrease in the
number of new installations and to a decrease in the
average amount we charged for installation of our servic-
es as a result of marketing campaigns during the period.
All other revenues, including advertising, program pro-
duction, commission and fees, and charges and sales
made to our unconsolidated managed franchises for
management, programming, construction materials and
labor and other services were substantially unchanged at
¥11,316 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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Operating Costs and Expenses

Operating and programming costs increased 8% year-
on-year to ¥53,870 million for the year ended December
31, 2004. This increase was primarily the result of
increased programming costs associated with the
increase in the number of cable television subscribers of
our managed franchises and with improvements we
have made to the channel line-up we provide to our sub-
scribers. This increase was also the result of increases
in network operating expenses, maintenance and tech-
nical support expenses associated with the expansion of
our network and the increase in the number of subscrib-
ing customers during the period. This increase was also
the result of direct costs associated with the provision of
installation services by Cable Systems Engineering
Corporation to our affiliates and third parties.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased
2% year-on-year to ¥44,311 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily attribut-
able to an increase in labor costs and other office over- .
head associated with providing customer service support
through our customer call centers due to the increase in
the number of subscribing customers in the period. This
increase was partly offset by reduced costs for marketing
personnel and advertising and promotion expenses.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased
11% year-on-year to ¥40,573 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attribut-
able to additions to the fixed assets related to the instal-
lation of services to new customers, and the expansion
and upgrade of our network. The increase was also
attributable to a 25% increase in retirements and dispos-
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als comprised primarily of customer premise equipment
to ¥2,559 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased 27% year-on-year to ¥10,101
million for the year ended December 31, 2004, This
increase was primarily attributable to the write-off of
¥2,829 million of fees relating to our previous loan facility
at the time of refinancing. The total amount of our
indebtedness, including capital leases, decreased by
¥23,872 million, from ¥255,401 million as of December
31, 2003 to ¥231,529 million as of December 31, 2004,
The majority of this decrease occurred in August 2004
with our repayment of ¥30,000 million of debt owed to our
three principal beneficial shareholders from the pro-
ceeds of equity contributions. In addition, during 2004,
the interest rate on our previous loan facility was
reduced in line with the terms of the loan facility agree-
ment as a result of our improved operating performance.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income, net, decreased 88% year-on-year to ¥37
million for the year ended December 31, 2004,
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Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

Equity in earnings of affiliates increased 47% year-on-
year to ¥610 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. The increase was primarily attributable to financial
improvement in the performance of our managed fran-
chises accounted for under the equity method, which was
due primarily to increases in both the number of their
customers and the number of services per customer.

Interest Expense
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Minority Interest in Net Income

Minority interest in net income increased 2% year-on-
year to ¥458 million for the year ended December 31,
2004 for the reascns set forth above.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense increased by ¥1,649 million, or
785%, to ¥1,859 million for the year ended December
31, 2004. The increase was attributable to the mix of
franchises reporting taxable income, net of the utiliza-
tion of available net operating loss carryforwards and
reversal of valuation allowances for those franchises.

Net Income

Net income increased by ¥5,47U million, or 102%, from
¥5 351 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to
¥10,821 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
for the reasons set forth above.
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Other Operating Data

Average Franchise Revenue Per Customer Per Month.
Total customers connected increased from 1,754,800 as
of December 31, 2003 to 1,873,000 as of December 31,
2004. The average number of services subscribed by
each of our connected customers and those of our
unconsolidated managed franchises increased by 7%,
from 1.55 services at December 31, 2003 to 1.66 servic-
es at December 31, 2004. As a result of this and the
other factors outlined above, the average monthly fran-
chise revenue per customer per month for us and our
unconsolidated managed franchises increased by 5%
from ¥6,779 per customer per month for the year ended
December 31, 2003 to ¥7,090 per customer per month
for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Churn Rate. The average monthly churn rates for our
cable television, high-speed Internet and telephony
services averaged 1.7%, 1.3% and 0.9%, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to
1.4%, 1.2% and 0.8%, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Average Monthly Churn Rate
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Ill. Factors Influencing Future Results of Operations

General

Our results of operations may be influenced by the fol-

lowing trends and uncertainties impacting the cable tel-

evision, high-speed Internet and telephony industries:

e further industry consolidation expected to result from
the acquisition of cable television providers that are
unable to make the capital investment necessary to
offer digital services by the government-mandated
target of 2011;

* the pace of market acceptance of current and future
competing platforms and technology, such as ADSL
and FTTH; and

e the impact of price-based competition for video, high-
speed Internet access, telephony and other services.

In addition, our future results of operations may be

influenced by a number of other factors, some of which

are subject to substantial uncertainty.

Revenue

Our future revenue will also be influenced by the follow-

ing factors:

¢ our ability to increase the number of our customers
generally and our ability to increase the number of
services subscribed to by each customer;

* the rates that we charge for our services and the com-
parative value at which we offer our bundled services to
customers compared to alternative service offerings;

e our ability to retain our existing customers and the
number of services to which they subscribe;

* the pace at which our subscribers convert from ana-
log to digital television services for which we charge a
higher fee;

¢ the pace at which our customers subscribe for premi-
um digital television service offerings such as pay-
per-view and VOD;

* the rate at which we increase investment in uncon-
solidated managed franchises making them consoli-
dated managed franchises; and

* whether we acquire new franchises and our ability to
successfully integrate the acquired franchises into
our operating structure.

Costs and Expenses

Our consclidated group's future costs and expenses

also will be influenced by the following factors, among

other things:

e our ability to manage the level of costs and expenses
related to the acquisition of additional customers,
and the expansion of service offerings to existing
customers, including sales, advertising and other
promotional expenses and compensation of our
sales force;

* our ability to successfully manage our programming
and operating expenses, including the costs for pro-
viding the additional content related to our digital tel-
evision service;

e the ability to manage the level of costs associated
with providing customer service to our increasing
customer base;

* the estimated fair value of our common stock. We
have granted subscription rights to cur common
shares to certain of our directors, corporate auditors
and employees and to the directors, corporate audi-
tors and employees of our unconsolidated managed
franchises. Certain of the plans provide that the exer-
cise price shall be adjustable to the lower of ¥92,000
or the initial Japanese public offering price per com-
mon share. As a result of this provision, we treat such
subscription rights under variable-plan accounting.
Accordingly, stock compensation expense {benefit] is
recorded for each reporting period for the difference
between the exercise price and the estimated fair
value of our common stock, until the subscription
rights are exercised or expire, or until the estimated
fair value of our common shares is less than the
exercise price; and

the impact of Japanese national, regional and munici-
pal income taxes, changes in valuation allowances
and the utilization of deferred tax assets, including
net operating loss carryforwards. A more detailed
discussion of income taxes is included in the notes to
our consolidated financial statements.
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V. Liguidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2004, our cash and
cash equivalents increased by ¥2,634 million, from
¥7,786 million to ¥10,420 mitlion, as a result of our
increasingly profitable operations from which we were
able to fund our operating and investing activities.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities. Net cash provided
by operating activities was ¥52,512 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to ¥46,965 million
the year ended December 31, 2003, or an increase of
¥5,547 million. The increase was primarily the result of
a ¥13,552 million increase in operating income before
depreciation and amortization, partly offset by a net
decrease in various working capital components,
including the payment of previously deferred interest on
our subordinated shareholder loans.

Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash used in
investing activities was ¥39,882 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004, compared to ¥34,526 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003, or an increase of
¥5,356 million. The increase was primarily attributable
to a ¥4,935 million increase in acquisitions of minority
interests in consclidated subsidiaries, which primarily
related to the purchase by us of the remaining shares in
our @NetHome subsidiary and a loan of ¥4,030 million
made to J:COM Chofu which we manage, but in which
we had no equity investment as of December 31, 2004.
This increase was offset by a ¥3,546 mitlion decrease in
the change of our restricted cash balance required
under the terms of our credit facilities and by a ¥685
million reduction in capital expenditures from ¥32,478
million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to ¥31,793
million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Cash Used in Financing Activities. Net cash used in financ-
ing activities was ¥9,996 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, compared to ¥12,199 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The net amount in the year
ended December 31, 2004 consisted of ¥30,000 million. pro-
ceeds from issuance of common stock, offset by a ¥24,796
million net reduction of long-term and short-term debt,
¥11,887 million principal payment of capital leases, and
¥3,563 million of other financing activities, primarily relat-
ing to fees associated with our new syndicated loan facility.

Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity for working capital,
capital expenditures and investments in our franchises
are cash provided from operations and borrowings
available under our loan facilities. In fiscal years prior
to the year ended December 31, 2002, cash provided
from operations was significantly lower than current
levels, and we relied mainly on capital contributions and
loans from our principal beneficial shareholders.

In January 2003, we entered into a ¥140,000 million
loan agreement with a syndicate of commercial banks
consisting of a ¥120,000 miltion term loan facility and a
¥20,000 million revolving facility. Of the ¥120,000 million
term loan facility, ¥32,000 million was in the form of
tranche B subordinated loans from our principal benefi-
cial shareholders, Liberty Media International,
Sumitomo Corporation and Microsoft Corporation, or
their subsidiaries, resulting in ¥88,000 million being
available under the term loan facility. The loan facilities
were secured by substantially all of our assets. In addi-
tion to the loan facilities, we had subordinated term
loans from our three principal beneficial shareholders
or their affiliates.

In December 2004, we entered into a ¥175,000 mitlion
syndicated loan facility, which consists of 2 ¥130,000
million term loan facility, a ¥20,000 million revolving
facility and a ¥25,000 million guarantee facility. At the
same time, we entered into a ¥50,000 million subordi-
nated syndicated loan facility. On December 21, 2004,
we drew down ¥130,000 million from the term loan
facility and ¥50,000 million from the subordinated syndi-
cated loan facility and made a repayment in full of all of
our then-outstanding loans from the previous loan
facilities and the subordinated term loans from our
three principal beneficial shareholders [or their sub-
sidiaries). The new syndicated loan facility is secured by
substantially all of our assets, including the shares we
own in our franchises and subsidiaries. The interest
rates and agent fees to be paid by us in connection with
the new syndicated loan facility are lower than these
under the previous loan facilities. However, we incurred
approximately ¥3,400 million in fees [including the
upfront fee under the subordinated syndicated loan
facility] and related transaction costs in connection with
this refinancing. In addition, in connection with our
repayment of the previous loan facilities, we recognized




an expense of approximately ¥2,829 million, which rep-
resents the remaining unamortized balance of capital-
ized transaction costs in connection with the previous
loan facilities.

The ¥130,000 million term loan facility consists of a
five-year ¥90,000 million tranche A term loan facility and
a seven-year ¥40,000 million tranche B term loan facili-
ty. The ¥25,000 million guarantee facility provides for a
seven-year bank guarantee on the amounts borrowed
from the Development Bank of Japan by our managed
franchises participating in the new syndicated loan facil-
ity. The revolving facility, which will be used for future
working capital requirements and acquisitions, will be
available for drawdown until one month prior to its final
maturity of December 31, 2009. A commitment fee of
0.50% is payable against the unused balance for revolv-
ing facitity during its availability period. The final maturi-
ty dates of the tranche A term loan facility and the
tranche B term loan facility are December 31, 2009 and
December 31, 2011, respectively. Loan repayment of the
tranche A term loan commences on September 30, 2005
and repayment of the tranche B term loan commences
on March 31, 2009. Additionally, the new syndicated loan
facility agreement requires that we make mandatory
prepayments under specific circumstances. A more
detailed discussion of the mandatory prepayments is
inctuded in Note 6 to our consclidated financial state-
ments. The syndicated banks’ commitments under the
¥25,000 million guarantee facility are decreased gradu-
ally until final maturity on December 31, 2011.

The new syndicated loan facility agreement includes
various financial and other customary covenants,
including the maintenance of certain operating and
financial ratios. These include leverage ratios, mini-
mum interest coverage ratios, minimum debt service
coverage ratios, as well as certain limitations on, or
prohibitions of, among others, mergers and acquisi-
tions, disposal of assets and the incurrence of addition-
al loans and indebtedness, however these limitations
and prohibitions are comparatively less onerous than
those under the previous loan facilities agreement.
Additionally, the new syndicated loan facility agreement
requires us to maintain interest hedging agreements on
at least 50% of the outstanding amounts under the
tranche A term loan facility.

We have typically financed the purchase of cable tele-
vision home terminals using capital leases. Historically,
we have financed the purchase of high-speed Internet

access modems using capital leases. More recently,
however, as prices have decreased significantly, we
have been purchasing these modems for cash. As of
December 31, 2004, the obligations under outstanding
capital leases aggregated approximately ¥31,805 mil-
lion. We also had term loans totaling ¥19,424 million, in
principal amount, from the Development Bank of Japan
as of December 31, 2004, of which ¥15,810 million are
interest-free loans. The term of these loans range from
10 to 15 years.

Qur unconsolidated managed franchises currently
plan to fund future working capital requirements and
finance capital improvements and any necessary net-
work expansion primarily from operating cash flow,
debt financing, including loans from us, and if neces-
sary, from capital contributions from their sharehold-
ers, including us.

We believe that given our current level of operations,
our cash flow and the cash flow of our managed fran-
chises provided from operating activities, together with
the availability under our revolving credit facility, capital
leases and the net proceeds from the global offering,
will be sufficient to enable us to fund operations and
budgeted capital expenditures for the foreseeable
future. However, if necessary we also may seek liquidity
through additional borrowings under short-term and
long-term commercial loans, and possibly the issuance
of debt securities and shares of common stock,
depending upon market conditions and our ability to
incur additional indebtedness.

Factors Affecting Future Sources of Liquidity

Our future sources of working capital and liquidity depend

upon a number of factors, including the following:

* the amount of cash provided by operating activities,
which will primarily be affected by our ability to gen-
erate operating income;

* the quality of our credit and our credit ratings, which
will impact our borrowing costs and our ability to
raise funds;

« the general interest rate environment and our ability to
reduce our indebtedness through the application of
operating cash flow, thereby increasing future borrow-
ing availability under our syndicated loan facility; and

* future market conditions for the issuance of our debt
and equity securities.

We currently have no plans to rely on our principal ben-

eficial shareholders for loans in the future.
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Indebtedness. As of December 31, 2004, we had
¥199,724 million of short-term and long-term indebted-
ness, excluding ¥31,805 million outstanding under capi-
tal lease obligations. In aggregate, ¥15,165 million is
due by December 31, 2005.

Capital Expenditures and Investments. During the past
several years, we have invested a significant amount of
capital for the completion of the expansion and upgrade
of our network across the franchises that we have
acquired. With the expansion and upgrade of our net-
work substantially complete, our annual levels of invest-
ment in capital expenditures are not expected to equal
the amounts from prior periods. For the period from
January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2006, we and our man-
aged franchises currently plan to make capital expendi-
tures of ¥84,755 million excluding assets acquired under
finance leases. These currently planned capital expendi-
tures primarily relate to customer installation costs, the

costs of converting a portion of our analog cable televi-
sion customers to digital, costs associated with the
expansion of our service offerings and other costs asso-
ciated with the expansion and upgrade of our network. In
addition, for the period from January 1, 2005 to
December 31, 2005, we intend to acquire additional
shares in certain of our unconsolidated managed fran-
chises to the extent the opportunity arises. We intend to
finance any such purchase through cash on hand, addi-
tional borrowings under our syndicated loan facility or
through additional sales of our equity securities.

Contractual Commitments. Our principal cutstanding
contractual obligations relate to our long-term debt
under our term loans, capital leases, non-cancellable
operating leases and certain equipment financing con-
tracts and other purchase obligations. The following
table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as
of December 31, 2004 for the periods indicated:

Mitlions of Yen

Contractual Obligations Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter
Long-term debt ..o ¥199.474 ¥ 5386  ¥11,649  ¥20,462  ¥31.475  ¥42981 ¥87,521
Short-term debt ... 250 250 — — — — —
Capital leases .o e 31,805 9,529 7,655 5,588 3,863 2,683 2,487
Non-cancellable operating leases ..., 3,764 901 751 626 400 383 703
OtREr e, 2.500 2.500 — — - — —

Total contractual cash obligations ........ccccooeeee. ¥237,793 ¥18,566  ¥20,055  ¥26,676  ¥35,738  ¥46,047 ¥90,711

Note: (1] Represents an approximately ¥2.5 billion commitment to acquire all of the shares held by an affiliate of Microsoft Corparation in each of J:COM
Chofu, Tu-Ka Cellular Tokyo, Inc. and Tu-Ka Cellular Tokai, Inc. We expect that the interests in Tu-Ka Cellular Tokyo, Inc. and Tu-Ka Cellular
Tokai, Inc. will be sold by us to a third party shortly after completion of this offering.
* We acquired those shares from Micraosoft Corporation on Feb 25, 2005 and sold Tu-ka Cellular Tokyo, Inc and Tu-ka Cellular Tokai, Inc to

KDD! on Feb 28.

Contingent Liabilities and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions.
We do not presently have any material contingent liabit-
ities or off-balance sheet transactions.

Interest Rates

Our primary market risk exposure consists of risk relat-
ed to changes in interest rates. We utilize interest rate
swap agreements and interest cap agreements to
hedge a portion of this risk. Historically, we have not
used derivative financial instruments for speculative or
trading purposes.

Interest expense on debt outstanding under our syn-
dicated loan facility is based on variable interest rates
and, accordingly, is sensitive to changes in market
interest rates. As of December 31, 2004, ¥53,000 million

and ¥7,000 million of our total of ¥180,000 million was
subject to interest rate swap agreements and interest
cap agreements, respectively, which effectively convert-
ed such portions of our total debt to fixed-rate debt to
limit our exposure to changes in market rates. Taking
the interest rate swap and interest cap agreements into
account, a 1% increase in the average market rate
would result in an increase in our annual interest
expense of approximately ¥1,229 million. This amount is
determined by considering the impact of the hypotheti-
cal interest rates on our borrowing cost, but does not
consider the effects of the reduced level of overall eco-
nomic activity that could exist in such an environment.
As a result of the uncertainty of the specific changes
and their possible effects, the foregoing sensitivity




analysis assumes no changes in our financial structure.
As a result of the new syndicated loan facility entered
into in December 2004, ¥17,000 million of interest rate
swap agreements and ¥7,000 million of interest cap
agreements were cancelled in January 2005. Under the

V. Critical Accounting Estimates

new syndicated loan facility, the remaining ¥36,000 mil-
lion of interest rate swap agreements outstanding at
December 31, 2004 will be carried over and ancther
¥9,000 million of interest rate swap agreements will
become effective on March 31, 2005.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States reguires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the
reporting periods. Certain accounting policies are con-
sidered to be critical accounting estimates, as they
require us to make assumptions about matters that are
uncertain at the time the estimate is made and changes
in the accounting estimate are reasonably likely to
occur from period to period. We believe the following
critical accounting policy reflects our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. For a summary of all
of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1 to con-
solidated financial statements.

Evaluation for impairment of property and
equipment and goodwill

The net carrying value of our property and equipment is
significant. We evaluate property and equipment for
potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may
not be recoverable. In the event that these periodic
assessments reflect that the carrying amount of prop-
erty and equipment exceeds the sum of the undiscount-
ed cash flows (excluding interest) that are expected to
result from the use and eventual disposition of the
property and equipment, we would recognize an impair-
ment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeded
the estimated fair value of the property and equipment.
The estimate of expected future net cash flows is inher-
ently uncertain and relies on subjective assumptions
dependent upon future and current market conditions
and events that affect the ultimate value of the property
and equipment.

The net carrying value of our goodwill is also signifi-
cant. We are required on an annual basis to assess
unamortized goodwill for impairment in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, which is a two-step
process. The first step requires that we identify our
reporting units and then determine the fair value for
each individual reporting unit. We then compare the fair
value of each reporting unit to the reporting unit’s car-
rying amount. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying
amount exceeded its fair value, we perform the next
step of the impairment test. The next step requires us
to compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit's
goodwill, determined by allocating the reporting unit's
fair value to all of its assets and liabilities, including
those assets previously not recognized. If the implied
fair value of a reporting unit's goodwill is less than its
carrying value, an impairment loss would be recorded.
We determine fair market value based on estimated
discounted future cash flows, using reasonable and
appropriate assumptions that are consistent with our
internal forecasts. Our assumptions also include other
factors such as penetration rates for our different serv-
ices (cable television, high-speed internet and telepho-
nyl, expected operating margins and capital expendi-
tures. Considerable management judgment is neces-
sary to estimate future cash flows, including those
relating to the timing and amount of future cash flows
and the discount rate used in the calculation.

We did not record any impairment losses for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003, or 2004. As
noted above, the valuations involve numerous assump-
tions. However, our estimate of future cash flows,
based on our assumptions, is subject to revision as our
assessment of market conditions changes. If we deter-
mine it is necessary to recognize a material impairment
in future periods, our financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ......... e e oottt e b bt a et ¥ 7785978 ¥ 10.420.109
RESEMICIEA CASN o ooe e e e et et s 1,773,060 —
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of ¥229,793 thousand in 2003
and ¥245,504 thousand in 2004 ... e 7.907.324 8.823.311
Loans to related party (Note B) ..., — 4,030,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 8] ... 1,596,150 4,099,032
TOtEL CUITENE @SSEES ottt 19,062,512 27.372.452
Investments: ‘
Investments in affiliates (NOTES 3 and D) .o 2,794,533 3,773.360
Investments in 0ther SECUTITIES, 81 COST ..ot e 2,891,973 2,901,566

5,686,506 6.674.926

Property and equipment. at cost (Notes 5 and 7):

LM e e 1,826,787 1.796.217
42 Distribution system and @QUIPIMENT ... e 312,330,187  344,207.670
Support equipment and bUIldiNgS ... 11,593,849 12,612,895

325,750,823 358,616,783

Less accumulated dePreCiBlion L. ittt (81,523,580] (108,613.,916)

244,227,243  250.002.867

Other assets: ‘
Goodwill, Net INOES 2 8N A oo oiiiie e ettt b 139,853,596 140,658,718
Other (Note 4 and 8] 13,047,229 14,582,383

152,900,825  155.241.101

¥421,877,086 ¥ 439,291,346




Thousands of Yen

2003 2004
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
SROME-TEIM LOBMS oot e et ¥ — ¥ 250.000
Long-term debt — current portion (Notes 6 and 12) .o 2,438,480 5.385,980
Capital lease obligations — current portion [Notes 5, 7 and 12):
RELBEEA PAITIES .ot 7,673,978 8,237,323
DbREE . e e et e 1,800,456 1,291,918
ACCOUNES PAYADLE Lo e s 17,293,932 17.164.463
Accrued expenses and other Labilities ... 3,576,708 6,155.380
Total current Habilities ..o e 32,783,554 38.485.064
Long-term debt, less current portion (Notes 6 and 12l
Related parties 149,739,250 —
Other 72,092,465 194,088,485
Capital lease obligations, less current portion [Notes 5, 7 and 12]:
RELBERA PAITIES 1. ieiierii et ettt bttt 17,704,295 19.714,799
DR T e e e ettt e, 3,951,900 2.560.511
DEfErret FEVENUE ... i e et 41,635,426 41,699,497
Severance and retirement allowance (NOte Q) i e e, 2,023,706 2,718,792
Redeemable preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary [Note 10) ..., 500,000 500.000
Other liabilities ... e 3,411,664 180.098
Total Habilities oo e e e 323,842,160  299.947.246
MINOFItY INEEIESE .o e ettt 1,266,287 974,227
Commitments and contingencies {Note 14)
Shareholders’ equity (Note 111:
Ordinary shares N0 Par ValUE ...t 63,132,998 78.133.015
Authorized 15,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 4,684,535.74 shares
at December 31, 2003 and 5,146,074.74 shares at December 31, 2004
Additional paid-in CPITAL ..ot e 122.837.273 137.930.774
AccUmUulated AefiCit ... s (88,506,887)  (77.685.712)
Accumulated other comprehensive LOSS ..o [694,745) (8.204)
Total shareholders” equUity ......ccccoiiiiiiioiii O U U PRPPUP USRI 96,768,639 138,369,873
‘ ¥421,877,086 ¥ 439,291,346

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Jupiter Telecommunicalions Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Thousands of Yen, except share and per share amounts

2002 2003 2004
Revenue (Note 5):
SUBSCIIPHON fEES ..ottt ¥ 97,144,356 ¥123,214,958 ¥140,826,446
D BT e e 19,486,170 19,944,074 20,519,825
116,630,526 143,159,032  161.346,271
Operating costs and expenses:
Operating and programming costs (Note 5] e, 45,967,220 49,895,426 53.869.646
Selling, general and administrative linclusive of stock compensation expense of '
¥61,902 thousand in 2002, ¥120,214 thousand in 2003 and
¥84,267 thousand in 2004) (Notes 5 and 11) oo 44,266 444 43,650,593 44,311,685
Depreciation and amortization ..o 30,079,753 36,410,894 40,573,166
120,313,417 129,956,913 138,754,497
Operating iNCOME (LOSS) .............ovoiiiiie et (3.682.891) 13,202,119 22.591.774
Other income (expense): ’
Interest expense, net:
Related parties (NOTE 5) ..o oo, (2.847.551)  [4,562,594)  (4.055,343)
Other .o, (1,335,400 (3,360,674 (6.045,939)
Other income, net 147,639 316,116 37574
Income (loss) before income taxes and otheritems ... [7,718,203) 5,594,967 12,528,066
Equity in earnings of affiliates
{inclusive of stock compensation expense of
¥2 156 thousand in 2002, ¥(2,855) thousand in 2003 and
¥9 217 thousand in 2004} (Note T1] .o 235,792 414,756 610,110
Minority interest in net (income) losses of consolidated subsidiaries 196,498 {448,648) {458,624)
Income (loss) before income taxes . [7,285,913) 5,561,055 12,679.552
Income taxes (Note 8) ... (256,743) (209,805) (1,858,377)
Nt INCOME (LOSS) .. e e e e ¥ (7,542,676) ¥ 5,351,250 ¥ 10,821,175
Yen
Per share data:
Netincome {loss) per share — basic and diluted ..o, ¥ (1,917 ¥ 1,214 ¥ 2,221
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding — basic and diluted .......... 3,934,286 4,407,046 4,871,169

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial staternents are an integral part of these statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Thousands of Yen, except per share amounts

: Additional ‘ Accumulated Total
Ordinary Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Other Shareholders’
Shares Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Comprehensive Equit
P Loss aulty
Balance at January 1,2002 ........................ ¥47,002,623 ¥106,525,481 ¥(86,315,461) ¥ — ¥ 67,212,643
Net LSS oo — —  ¥[7542,676) (7,542,676) - (7,542,676)
Other comprehensive income ... — '
Comprehensive 0SS ..., ¥ (7.542,676)
Stock compensation (Notes 1and 11) ... - 64,058 — — 64,058
Balance at December 31,2002 ................... ¥47,002,623 ¥106,589,539 i ¥(93.858,137) ¥ — ¥ 59,734,025
Net INCOME oo - — ¥ 5351,250 5,351,250 - 5,351,250
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge ...... (694,745 (694,745) [694,745)
Comprehensive iNnCOMe ..o ¥ 4,656 505
Stock compensation (Notes 1and 1) ... — 117,359 - - 117,359
Ordinary shares issued upon conversion
of long-term debt; 750,250 shares at
¥43,000 per share [Note 8] ..o 16,130,375 16,130,375 — - 32,260,750
Balance at December 31,2003 .................... ¥63,132,998 ¥122.837,273 ¥(88,506,887) ¥(694,745] ¥ 96,768,639
Net INCOME ..o - —  ¥10,821.175 10,821,175 - 10,821,175
Other comprehensive gain:
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge ..... 686,541 686,541 686,541
Comprehensive iNCOME .....cc.ocvriiiiiienen, ¥11,507,716
Stock compensation (Notes Tand 1] ... — 93,484 : - - 93,484
Ordinary shares issued; 461,539 shares
at ¥65,000 per share [Note 1] ... 15,000,017  15.000.017 — — 30,000,034
Balance at December 31,2004 .................... ¥78,133,015 ¥137,930,774 ¥(77.685,712) ¥ [8,204] ¥138,369,873

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Jupiter Telecommunications Co.. Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

Thousands of Yen

2002

2003

2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
NEEINCOME [LOSS) 1o oii e ¥ (7.542.676)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss} to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Gain on forgiveness of subsidiary debt ... —

¥ 5351,250

(400,000

¥ 10.821.175

Oepreciation and amaortization 30,079,753 36,410,894 40,573,166
Equity in earnings of affiliates (235,792] (414,756) {610.110)
Minority interast in net income {losses) of consolidated subsidiaries .................. (196,498) 448,668 458,624
Stack COMPENSAION EXPEMSE .ocviiiiiiiiititi ettt 61,902 120,214 84,287 -
Deferrad iNCOME tAXES oot — — 45,591
Provision for retirement allowance ... 412,692 417,335 647592
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects
of business combinations:
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable, net ..., 1,348,081 1,712,904 (431,162)
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets 553,192 349147 4,866
(Increasel/decrease in Other @SSES ..o {1,651,599) (325,769) 2,443,960
(Decreasel/increase in accounts payable ... (3,124,486) 171,705 (1.184,539)
increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities ... 188,537 2,665,162 39.279
Increase/(decrease] in deferred revenue ... 2,768,512 458,315 (380.578)
Net cash pravided by operating activities ... 22,681,618 46,965,069 52,512,131
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital @XPenTiTUTES it (48,108,176) (32,478,389) (31.792.956)
Acquisition of new subsidiaries, net of cash acquired ... 1,856,230 — (442.910)
Investments in and advances to affiliates (665,575 (172.500] (359,500)
(lncreasel/decrease in restricted CaSh ... e — (1,773,060 1,773.060
L0oans 10 related PAILY oot e — — (4,030.000)
Acquisition of minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries ... (164,590) [25,565) (4.960,484)
Other inVESHiNG @CHIVITIES .iiiiii ettt [650,729] [76,891) (68.427)
Net cash used in iNVesting CtIVILIES ..o (47,732 .,840) [34,5264,405] (39,882,217
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ..o — — 30.000.034
Net increase/[dacrease] in short-term loans ..., 36,984,965  (228,785,000) 250,000
Proceeds from long-term debt ... 2,620,000 239,078,000 185.302.000
Principal payments of long-term debt ... (2,082.335) (8,184,980) (210,097.730)
Principal payments under capital lease abligations ... (9,293,487} (10,843,024)  (11,887.363)
Other fiNanCIiNg BCHVILIES tooiii it (738,854) (3,464,440} (3.562,724)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ..............ccoceeiiieeeis e 27,490,289 (12,199.444) {9,995.783)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ..o 2,439,067 239,220 2,634,131
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... 5.107,691 7,546,758 7.785,978
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ...l ¥ 75467758 ¥ 7785978 ¥ 10.420.109

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 31

1. Description of Business, Basis of Financial Statements and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business and Organization

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. ("Jupiter”] and its
subsidiaries [the "Company”’) own and operate cable
telecommunication systems throughout Japan and pro-
vide cable television services, telephony and high-speed
fnternet access services (collectively, "Broadband serv-
ices”), The telecommunications industry in Japan is
highly regulated by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and
Communications ("MIC”]. In general, franchise rights
granted by the MIC to the Company's subsidiaries for
operation of cable telecommunications systems in their

respective localities are not exclusive. Currently, cable
television services account for a majority of the
Company's revenue. Telephony operations accounted
for approximately 10%, 13% and 15% of total revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively. internet operations accounted for approxi-
mately 23%, 24% and 25% of total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

The Company's beneficial ownership at December 31,
2004 was as follows:

LiMI/Sumisho Super Media LLC {"SM™) i
Microsaft Carporation ("Microsoft™ ...,
SUMItoMO Corporation ("SC™T oo oo oo
Mitsui & Co., Ltd Lo,
Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., Ltd .o,

In August 2004, Liberty Media International Inc. ["LMI"],
SC and Microsoft made capital contributions to the
Coempany in the following amounts: LMI: ¥14,065 million
for 216,382 shares: SC: ¥9,913 million for 152,505
shares; and Microsoft ¥6,022 million for 92,652 shares.
The shares of common stock issued in exchange for the
capital contributions were based on fair value at the
date of the transaction. As a result of the transaction,
their beneficial ownership in the Company increased to
45.45%, 32.03% and 19.46%, respectively. The proceeds
from the capital contributions were used to repay sub-
ordinated debt owed to each of LMI, SC and Microsoft in
the same amounts as contributed by each shareholder
respectively [see Note 6).

On December 28, 2004, LMI contributed all of its then
43.45% beneficial ownership interest and SC contributed
19.78% of its then ownership interest in the Company to
SM, a company owned 69.7% by LMl and 30.3% by 5C. As
a result, SM became a 65.23% shareholder of the
Company while SC's direct ownership interest was
reduced to 12.25%. SC is obligated to contribute its
remaining 12.25% direct ownership interest in the
Company to SM within six months of an initial public
offering ("IPQ") in Japan by the Company.

The Company has historically relied on financing from
its principle shareholders to meet liquidity requirements.
However, in December 2004, the Company entered into a

new syndicated facility and repaid all outstanding debt
with its principal shareholders. For additional informa-
tion concerning the 2004 refinancing, see Note 6.

Basis of Financial Statements

The Company maintains its books of account in con-
formity with financial accounting standards of Japan.
The consolidated financial statements presented herein
have been prepared in @ manner and reflect certain
adjustments which are necessary to conform to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
State of America ["U.S. GAAP"). These adjustments
include those related to the scope of consolidation,
accounting for business combinations, accounting for
income taxes, accounting for leases, accounting for
stock-based compensation, revenue recognition of cer-
tain revenues, post-retirement benefits, depreciation
and amortization and accruals for certain expenses.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Consolidation Policy

The accampanying consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the Company and all of its
majority-owned subsidiaries which are primarily cable
system operators ["S0s”]. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated. For
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the consolidated subsidiaries with a negative equity
position, the Company has recognized the entire
amount of cumulative losses of such subsidiaries
regardless of its ownership percentage.

{b) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid debt
instruments with an initial maturity of three months or less.

(c) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts is computed based on
historical bad debt experience and includes estimated
uncollectible amounts based on analysis of certain indi-
vidual accounts, including claims in bankruptcy.

(d) Investments

For those investments in affiliates in which the
Company's voting interest is 20% to 50% and the
Company has the ability to exercise significant influence
over the affiliates” operation and financial policies, the
equity method of accounting is used. Under this method,
the investment is ariginally recorded at cost and adjust-
ed to recognize the Company's share of the net earnings
or losses of its affiliates. Prior to the adoption on
January 1, 2002 of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard ('SFAS") No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets, the excess of the Company’s cost over
its percentage interest in the net assets of each affiliate
was amortized, primarily over a period of 20 years,
Subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, such
excess is no longer amortized. All significant intercom-
pany profits from these affiliates have been eliminated.

Investments in other securities carried at cost repre-
sent non-marketable equity securities in'which the
Company’s ownership is less than 20% and the Company
does not have the ability to exercise significant influence
over the entities’ cperation and financial policies.

The Company evaluates its investments in affiliates
and non-marketahle equity securities for impairment
due to declines in value considered to be other than
temporary. In performing its evaluations, the Company
utilizes various information, as available, including cash

flow projections, independent valuations, industry multi-

ples and, as applicable, stock price analysis. In the event
of a determination that a decline in value is other than
temporary, a charge to earnings is recorded for the loss,
and a new cost basis in the investment is established.

(e) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including construction materials,
are carried at cost, which includes all direct costs and cer-
tain indirect costs associated with the construction of
cable television transmission and distribution systems,
and the costs of new subscriber installations. Depreciation
is computed on a straight-line method using estimated
useful lives ranging from 10 to 15 years for distribution
systems and eguipment, from 15 to 60 years for buildings
and structures and from 8 to 15 years for support equip-
ment. Equipment under capital leases is stated at the
present value of minimum lease payments. Equipment
under capital leases is amortized on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life
of the asset, which ranges from 2 to 21 years.

Ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged to
income as incurred. Major replacements and improve-
ments are capitatized. When property and equipment is
retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation accounts are relieved of the
applicable amaunts and any differences are included in
depreciation expense. The impact of such retirements
and disposals resulted in additional depreciation
expense of ¥1,315,484 thousand, ¥2,041,347 thousand
and ¥2,558,513 thousand for the years ended December
31,2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

During the first quarter of 2000, the Company and its
subsidiaries approved a plah to upgrade substantially all
of its 450 MHz distribution systems to 750 MHz during
the years ending December 31, 2000 and 2007. The
Company identified certain electronic components of
their distribution systems that were replaced in connec-
tion with the upgrade and, accordingly, adjusted the
remaining useful lives of such electronics in accordance
with the upgrade schedule. The effect of such changes in
the remaining useful lives resulted in additicnal depreci-
ation expense of approximately ¥484 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Additionally, after giving effect
to the accelerated depreciation, the net loss per share
increased by approximately ¥(123) per share for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Such upgrades had been sub-
stantially completed by December 31, 2002.

(f) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the
acquired cable television companies and amounts allocat-
ed to the-estimated fair value of their net assets. The
Company performs an assessment of goodwill for impair-




ment at least annually, and more frequently if an indicator
of impairment has occurred, using a two-step process. The
first step requires identification of reporting units and
determination of the fair value for each individual reporting
unit. The fair value of each reporting unit is then compared
to the reporting unit's carrying amount including assigned
goodwill. To the extent a reporting unit's carrying amount
exceeds its fair value, the second step of the impairment
test is performed by comparing the implied fair value of the
reporting unit's goodwill to its carrying amount. if the
implied fair value of a reporting unit’s goodwill is less than
its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recorded. The
Company performs its annual impairment test on the first
day of Gctober in each year. The Company has determined
its reporting units to be the same as its reportable seg-
ments. The Company had no impairment charges of good-
will for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

(g) Long-Lived Assets

The Company and its subsidiaries’ long-lived assets,
excluding goodwitl, are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the car-
rying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured
by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future
net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest] expect-
ed to be generated by the asset. If such assets are consid-
ered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of
the assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets.
Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. The stan-
dard requires that obligations associated with the retire-
ment of tangible lang-lived assets be recorded as liabili-
ties when those obligations are incurred, with the
amount of the liability initially measured at fair value.
The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as
part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. SFAS
No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company
and its subsidiaries adopted SFAS No. 143 on January 1,
2003 and the adoption did not have a material effect on
its results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

(h) Other Assets
Other assets include certain development costs associ-

ated with internal-use software capitalized, including
external costs of material and services, and payroll
costs for employees devoting time to the software proj-
ects. These costs are amortized over a period not to
exceed five years beginning when the asset is substan-
tially ready for use. Costs incurred during the prelimi-
nary project stage, as well as maintenance and training
costs are expensed as incurred. Other assets also
include deferred financing costs, primarity legal fees
and bank facility fees, incurred to negotiate and secure
the facility. These costs are amortized to interest
expense using the effective interest method over the
term of the facility. For additional information concern-
ing the Company’s debt facilities, see Note 6.

(i) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company uses certain derivative financial instru-
ments to manage its foreign currency and interest rate
exposure. The Company may enter into forward con-
tracts to reduce its exposure to short-term [generally no
more than one year] movements in exchange rates
applicable to firm funding commitments that are
denominated in currencies other than the Japanese yen.
The Company uses interest rate risk management deriv-
ative instruments, such as interest rate swap and inter-
est cap agreements, to manage interest costs to achieve
an overall desired mix of fixed and variable rate debt. As
a matter of policy, the Company does not enter into
derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes.
The Company accounts for its derivative instruments in
accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities and SFAS Na. 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities, an amendment of SFAS No. 133. SFAS
No. 133, as amended, requires that all derivative instru-
ments be reported on the balance sheet as either assets ar
liabilities measured at fair value. For derivative instruments
designated and effective as fair value hedges, changes in
the fair value of the derivative instrument and of the hedged
itemn attributable to the hedged risk are recognized in earn-
ings. For derivative instruments designated as cash flow
hedges, the effective portion of any hedge is reported in
other comprehensive income until it is recegnized in earn-
ings in the same period in which the hedged item affects
earnings. The ineffective portion of all hedges will be rec-
ognized in current earnings each period. Changes in fair
value of derivative instruments that are not designated as a
hedge will be recorded each period in current earnings.
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The Company formally documents all relationships
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk-management objective and strategy for under-
taking hedge transactions. This process includes linking alt
derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash flow
hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted trans-
actions. The Company discontinues hedge accounting
prospectively when (1] it is determined that the derivative is
no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of
cash flows of a hedged item; (2} the derivative expires or is
sold, terminated, or exercised; (3] it is determined that the
forecasted hedged transaction will no longer occur; (4) 2
hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of
a firm commitment, or {8) management determines that
the designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is
no longer appropnate. Ongoing assessments of effective-
ness are being made every three months.

The Company had several outstanding forward con-
tracts with a commercial bank to hedge foreign currency
exposures related to U.S. dollar-denominated equipment
purchases and othear firm commitments. As of December
31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, such forward contracts had an
aggregate notional amount of ¥1,553,053 thousand,
¥3,134,242 thousand and ¥5,658,147 thousand, respective-
ly, and expire on various dates through December 2005.
The forward contracts have not been designated as
hedges as they do not meet the effectiveness criteria
specified by SFAS No. 133. However, management
believes such forward contracts are closely related with
the firm commitments designated in U.S. dollars, thus
managing associated currency risk. Forward contracts not
designated as hedges are marked to market each period.
Included in other income, net, in the accompanying con-
solidated statements of operations are losses on forward
contracts not designated as hedges of ¥11,589 thousand,
¥65,195 thousand and ¥72,223 thousand for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

In May 2003, the Company entered into several interest
rate swap agreements and an interest rate cap agreement
to manage variable rate debt as required under the terms
of its facility agreement [see Note 6). These interest rate
exchange agreements effectively convert ¥60 billion of
variable rate debt based on TIBOR into fixed rate debt and
mature on June 30, 2009. These interest rate exchange
agreements are considered cash flow hedging instru-
ments as they are expected to effectively convert variable
interest payments on certain debt instruments into fixed

payments. Changes in fair value of these interest rate
agreements designated as cash flow hedges are reported
in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The amounts
witl be subseguently reclassified into interest expense as a
yield adjustment in the same period in which the related
interest on the variable rate debt affects earnings. The
counterparties to the interest rate exchange agreements
are banks participating in the facility agreement, therefore
the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by any
of them on the interest rate exchange agreements. In
December 2004, the Company entered into a new debt
facility, which replaced its former facility [see Note 6).
Under the terms of the new facility, the Company was
required to cancel certain interest rate swap agreements
and an interest rate cap agreement with an aggregate
notional amount of ¥24 billion, as the counterparties elect-
ed not to participate in the new facility. Such agreements
were canceled in January 2005. As a result, these agree-
ments are no longer considered cash flow hedging instru-
ments and their respective fair value changes were
reclassified into interest expense, net in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The remaining aggregate notionat
amount of ¥36 billion of interest rate swap agreements
have been permitted to be carried over to the new facility
as the counterparties are participants in the new facility.
The Company has re-designated such interest swap
agreements as cash flow hedging instruments.

(j) Severance and Retirement Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries have unfunded non-
cantributory defined benefit severance and retirement
plans which are accounted for in accordance with SFAS
No. 87, Employers” Accounting for Pensions.

(k) Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries account for income taxes
under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differences are expect-
ed to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.




(1) Cable Television System Costs, Expenses and Revenues
The Company and its subsidiaries account for costs,
expenses and revenues applicable to the construction and
oparation of cable television systems in accordance with
SFAS No. 51, Financial Reporting by Cable Television

Companies. Currently, there is no significant system that -

falls in a prematurity period as defined by SFAS No. 51.
Operating and programming costs in the Company’'s con-
solidated statements of operations include, among other
things, cable service related expenses, billing costs, tech-
nical and maintenance personnel and utility expenses
related to the cable television network.

(m) Revenue Recognition

The Company and its subsidiaries recognize cable televi-
sion, high-speed Internet access, telephony and pro-
gramming revenues when such services are provided to
subscribers. Revenues derived from other sources are
recognized when services are provided, events occur or
products are delivered. Initial subscriber installation rev-
enues are recognized in the period in which the related
services are provided to the extent of direct selling costs.
Any remaining amount is deferred and recognized.over
the estimated average period that the subscribers are
expected to remain connected to the cable television sys-
tem. Historically, installation revenues have been less
than related direct selling costs, therefore such revenues
have been recognized as installations are completed.

The Company and its subsidiaries provide poor recep-
tion rébroadcasting services to noncable television viewers
suffering from poor reception of television waves caused
by artificial obstacles. The Company and its subsidiaries
enter into agreements with parties that have built obsta-
cles causing poor reception for construction and mainte-
nance of cable facilities to provide such services to the
affected viewers at no cost to them during the agreement
period. Under these agreements, the Company and its
subsidiaries receive up-front, lump-sum compensation
payments for construction and maintenance. Revenues
from these agreements have been deferred and are being
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the
agreement periods which are generally 20 years. Such
revenues are included in revenue — other in the accompa-
nying consolidated statements of operations.

See Note 5 for a description of revenue from affiliates
related to construction-related sales and programming
fees which are recorded in revenue — other in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

(n) Advertising Expense

Advertising expense is charged to income as incurred.
Advertising expense amounted to ¥4,425,004 thousand,
¥3,921,229 thousand and ¥2,915,403 thousand and for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and is included in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations.

(o) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company and its subsidiaries account for stock-
based compensation plans to employees using the intrin-
sic value based method prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees {"/APB No. 25"} and FASB
Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation — an
Interpretation of APB No. 25. ["FIN No. 44"]. As such,
compensation expense is measured on the date of grant
only if the current fair value of the underlying stock
exceeds the exercise price. The Company accounts for its
stock-based compensation plans to nonemployees and
employees of unconsolidated affiliated companies using
the fair market value based method prescribed by SFAS
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 00-12, Accounting by
an Investor for Stock-Based Compensation Granted to
Employees of an Equity Method Investee "EITF 00-127).
Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of the stock based
award is determined using the Black-Scholes option
pricing method, which is remeasured each period end
until a commitment date is reached, which is generally
the vesting date. The fair value of the subscription rights
and stock purchase warrants granted each year was cal-
culated using the Black-5choles option-pricing model
with the following assumptions: no dividends, volatility of
40%, risk-free rate of 3.0% and an expected life of three
years. Expense associated with stock-based compensa-
tion for certain management employees is amortized on
an accelerated basis over the vesting period of the indi-
vidual award consistent with the method described in
FASB Interpretation No. 28, Accounting for Stock
Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or
Award Plans. Otherwise, compensation expense is gen-
erally amortized evenly over the vesting period.
Compensation expense is recorded in operating costs
and expenses for the Company’'s employees and nonem-
ployees and in equity in earnings of affiliates for employ-
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ees of affiliated companies in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations.

SFAS No. 123 allows companies to continue to apply
the provisions of APB No. 25, where applicable, and
provide pro forma disclosure for employee stock option
grants as if the fair value based method defined in SFAS
No. 123 had been applied. The Company has elected to
continue to apply the provisions of APB No. 25 for

stock-based compensation plans to its employees and
provide the pro forma disclosure required by SFAS No.
123. The following table illustrates the effect on net
income [loss] and net income [loss] per share for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provi-
sions of SFAS No. 123:

Thousands of Yen. except share and per share amounts

2002 2003 2004

Net income [l0SS), 85 reparted ..o
Add stock-based compensation expense included in reported
NEtiNCOME (LOSS) it e
Deduct stock-based compensation expense determined under
fair value based method for all awards, net of applicable taxes
Pro forma net inceme (L0SS) oo

Basic and diluted per share data:

Net income (loss] per share, as reported (Yen] ..o
Net income {loss] per share, pro forma (Yen] ...

..................................... ¥(7,542,676) ¥5351,250 ¥10.821.175

.................................. (510,24¢6) [454,172) (607.655)

..................................... ¥(8,052,922) ¥4,897078 ¥10.213.520

{1,917) 1,214 2,221
(2,047) 1,111 2,097

{p) Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share ("EPS"} is presented in accordance
with the provisions of SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per
Share. Under SFAS No. 128, basic EPS excludes dilution
for potential ordinary shares and is computed by divid-
ing net income (loss) by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding for the period. Diluted
EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue ordinary shares
were exercised or converted into ordinary shares. Basic
and diluted EPS are the same in 2002, 2003 and 2004,
as all potential ordinary share equivalents, consisting of
stock options, are anti-dilutive.

(q) Segments

The Company reports operating segment information in
accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related information.
SFAS No. 131 defined operating segments as compo-
nents of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is available that is regularly evaluated by
the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to
allocate resources to an individual segment and in
assessing performance of the segment.

The Company has determined that each individual
consolidated subsidiary and unconsolidated managed
equity affiliate SO is an operating segment because
each SO represents a legal entity and serves a separate

geographic area. The Company has evaluated the crite-
ria for aggregation of the operating segments under
paragraph 17 of SFAS No. 131 and believes it meets
each of its respective criteria. Accordingly, manage-
ment has determined that the Company has one
reportable segment, Broadband services.

(r) Use of Estimates

Management of the Company has made a number of
estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-
enues and expenses during the reporting period to pre-
pare these consolidated financial statements in conform-
ity with U.S. GAAP. Significant judgments and estimates
include derivative financial instruments, depreciation and
amortization costs, impairments of property and equip-
ment and goodwill, income taxes and other contingen-
cies. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(s) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004] [SFAS
No. 123R] in December 2004, SFAS No. 123R is a revi-
sion of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R supersedes APB
No. 25 and its related implementation guidance. SFAS
No. 123R focuses primarily on accounting for transac-
tions in which an entity obtains employee services in




share-based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123R
requires a public entity to measure the cost of employ-
ee services received in exchange for an award of equity
instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the
award fwith limited exceptions]. That cost will be recog-
nized over the period during which an employee is

2. Acquisitions

required to provide service in exchange for the award.

This statement is effective as of the beginning of the

first interim or annual reporting period that begins after -
June 15, 2005. We have not yet determined the impact

SFAS No. 123R will have on our results of operations.

The Company acquired varying interests in cable television
companies during the periods presented. The Company
utilized the purchase method of accounting for all such
acquisitions and, accordingly, has allocated the purchase
price based on the estimated fair value of the assets and
liabilities of the acquired companies. The assets, liabilities
and operations of such companies have been included in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements since
the dates of their respective acquisitions.

In January 2002, the Company purchased additional
shares of its affiliate J:COM Media Saitama during a
capital call for ¥500,000 thousand and purchased
shares from existing shareholders of its affiliate J:COM
Urawa-Yono for ¥10,080 thousand. After the purchases,
the Company's equity ownership increased to a 50.2%
controlling interest in J:COM Media Saitama and a
50.10% controlling interest in J:COM Urawa-Yono.
These transactions have been treated as step-acquisi-
tions. The results of operations for both J:COM Media
Saitama and J:COM Urawa-Yono have been included as
a consolidated entity from January 1, 2002.

In March 2002, the Company purchased additional
shares in its affiliate, @NetHome Co., Ltd
["@NetHome"), from SC at a price per share of ¥55,000
or ¥527,470 thousand and all of the shares held by At
Home Asia-Pacific for ¥1.4 billion. After the purchases,
the Company had an 87.4% equity interest in
@NetHome. The purchases have been accounted for as
a step-acquisition. The operations for @NetHome have
been included as a consolidated entity from April 1,
2002. In March 2004, the Company purchased from SC

the remaining outstanding shares of @NetHome for
¥4,860 million. After the purchase, @NetHome became
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The pur-
chase has been accounted for as a step-acquisition.
The Company recorded approximately ¥4.0 billion of
goodwill for the excess consideration over the fair value
of the net assets and liabilities acquired in the 2004
step-acquisition.

In March 2004, the Company purchased a controlling
interest in fzumi Otsu from certain of its shareholders.
The total purchase price of such lzumi Otsu shares was 53
¥160,000 thousand and gave the Company a 66.7%
interest. The results of lzumi Otsu have been included
as a consolidated subsidiary from April 1, 2004. In
August 2004, the Company and certain shareholders
entered into an agreement and merged Izumi Otsu into
the Company’s 84.2% consolidated subsidiary, J:COM
Kansai. After the merger, the Company has an 84.0%
equity interest in J:COM Kansai.

[n July 2004, the Company purchased a 100% control-
ling interest in Cable System Engineering Corporation
{"CSE"), whose business is cable network construction
and installation. The total purchase price of CSE was
¥577,210 thousand. No goodwill was recognized in con-
nection with this acquisition. The result of operations
for CSE have been included from August 1, 2004.

The impact to revenue, netincome (toss] and net
income (loss) per share for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004, as if the transactions were complet-
ed as of the beginning of those years, is not significant.
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The aggregate purchase price of the business combina
cated based upon fair values as follows:

tions during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2004 was allo-

Thousands of Yen

2002 2004
Cash, receivables and Other @SSEES .o et ettt ¥ 7039726 ¥2073191
Property @and BQUIPIMENT oottt e e 16,565,507 791,856
BOOAWILL e e et 3,690,538 4,228,117
Debt and capital lease obligations ... (15,881,589) —_
OtREr LDILITIES ooii ettt (6,110,058  (1,395.471)

¥ 5,304,118  ¥5.697683

3. Investments in Affiliates

The Company's affiliates are engaged primarily in the
Broadband services business in Japan. At December
31, 2004, the Company held investments in J:COM
Shimonoseki (50.0%), J:COM Fukuoka (45.0%), Jupiter
VOD Co. Ltd. (50.0%), Kansai Multimedia Service Co.,
Ltd. ("Kansai Multimedia”] [25.8%), CATV Kobe (20.4%)
and Green City Ceble TV Corporation (20.0%).

The carrying value of investments in affiliates as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004 includes ¥730,910 thou-
sand and ¥761,053 thousand of unamortized excess
cost of investments over the Company’s equity in the
net assets of the affiliates. All significant intercompany

profits from these affiliates have been eliminated
according to the equity method of accounting.

The carrying value of investments in affiliates as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004 includes ¥2,019,000 thou-
sand and ¥1,945,000 thousand of short-term loans the
Company made to certain managed affiliates. The inter-
est rate on these loans was 3.23% and 2.48% as of
December 31, 2003 and 2004.

Condensed financial information of the Company's
unconsolidated affiliates at December 31, 2003, and 2004
and for each of the three years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004 are as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004
Combined Financial Position:
Property and @QUIPMENT, NMET ...ttt e ¥ 29,696,602  ¥29.578,096
OREr @SSEES, MEL oot e e ettt s 6,201,251 7.545,469
Total assets ............. P PR PP PP ¥ 35,897,853  ¥37.123,565
DBt e e ¥17998.825  ¥15577.345
OEREr LEDILHIES oo et 16,030,950 17,224,152
Shareholders’ BQUITY ..ottt 1,868,078 4,322,068
Total LiaDilities BN @QUILY woviiiri ettt ettt ¥ 35,897,853 ¥ 37,123,565
Thousands of Yen
2002 2003 2004
Combined Operations:
TOLAL FRVENUER oo e e et ¥ 18,218,205 ¥ 19,776,603  ¥21,784.785
Operating, selling, general and administrative eXpenses ......ccc.covveciiiicecnnee (13,001,409) (13,430,881] (15,080,471)
Depreciation and amaortization ... e (3,180,977) (3,682,641} (4,164,827)
Operating INCOME oo et 2,035,819 2,663,081 2,539,497
INterest @XPENSE, NEL i s {410,278) [478,609) (427.400)
Other BXDENSE, MBL oot e (558,636) (1,013,158) (428,107)
NEE INCOMIE oo e e e ¥ 1,066,905 ¥ 1,683,990

¥ 1,171,314




%, Goodwill and Other Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, net, for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 consisted of the following:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004

Goodwill, net, beginning of year ...
Goodwill acquired during the year ...
[nitial recognition of acquired tax benefits allocated to reduce goodwill of acquired entities (Note 8] ... -
Goodwill, net, end 0f Year ..o,

e ¥139,827.277  ¥139.853.596

26,319 4,228117
(3.422,995)

....................................................... ¥139,853,596  ¥140.658,718

Other assets, excluding goodwill, at December 31, 2003 and 2004, consisted of the following:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004

Lease and other deposits
Deferred financing costs

Capitalized computer software, net ...
Long-term loans receivable, net ...

Deferred tax assets

¥ 4295947 ¥ 4313742
3,763,785 3.540.302

........................................................ 3,022,557 3.351.115
........................................................ 300,380 270,885

- 1,308,582
1,664,560 1,797,757

....................................................... ¥ 13.047.229 ¥ 14582383

5. Related Party Transactions

The Company purchases cable system materials and
supplies from third-party suppliers and resells them to
its subsidiaries and affiliates. The sales to unconsoli-
dated affiliates amounted to ¥3,484,288 thousand,
¥?7,888,046 thousand and ¥2,385,495 thousand for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and are included in revenue — other in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
The Company provides programming services to its
subsidiaries and affiliates. The revenue from unconsoti-
dated affiliates for such services provided and the relat-
ed products sold amounted to ¥815,287 thousand,
¥1,092,724 thousand and ¥1,379,744 thousand for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and are included in revenue — other in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
The Company provides management services to its
subsidiaries and managed affiliates. Fees for such serv-
ices related to managed affiliates amounted to ¥390,434
thousand, ¥468,219 thousand and ¥521,670 thousand for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and are included in revenue — other in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

In July 2002, the Company began providing manage-
ment services to Chofu Cable Inc. {"J:COM Chofu”), an
affiliated company that is 92% jointly owned by LMI,
Microsoft and SC. Fees for such services amounted to
¥29,590 thousand, ¥60,882 thousand and ¥87,446 thou-
sand for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and
2004 respectively, and are included in revenue — other
in the accompanying consolidated statements of opera-
tions. As part of the 2004 refinancing, J:COM Chofu
became party to the Company's new debt facility [see
Note ). At December 31, 2004, the Company had
advanced ¥4,030 miltion of short term loans to J:COM
Chofu and the interest rate on these loans were 2.48%.

The Company purchases certain cable television pro-
grams from Jupiter Programming Co., Ltd. ["JPC™}, an
affiliated company jointly owned by SC and a wholly
owned subsidiary of LMI. Such purchases, including
purchases from JPC’s affiliates, amounted to
¥2,879,616 thousand, ¥3,155,139 thousand and
¥3,915,345 thousand for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and are included in
operating and programming costs in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, the
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Company receives a distribution fee to carry the Shop
Channel, a majority owned subsidiary of JPC, for the
greater of a fixed rate per subscriber or a percentage of
revenue generated through sales in the Company’'s ter-
ritory. Such fees amounted to ¥614,224 thousand,
¥939,438 thousand and ¥1,063,678 thousand for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and are included as revenue — other in the
accompanying censolidated statements of operations.

The Company purchased stock of affitiated companies
from SC in the amounts of ¥1,112,750 thousand, ¥0
thousand, and ¥5,091,864 thousand in the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

AJCC K.K. {"AJCC") is a subsidiary of SC and its pri-
mary business is the sale of home terminals and relat-
ed goods to cable television companies. Sumisho Lease
Co., Ltd. and Sumisho Auto Leasing Co., Ltd. (collective-
ly “Sumisho leasing”) are a subsidiary and affiliate,
respectively, of SC and provide to the Company various
office equipment and vehicles. The Company and its
subsidiaries’ purchases of such goods, primarily as
capital leases, from both AJCC and Sumisho leasing,
amounted to ¥10,074,639 thousand, ¥4,087,645 thou-
sand and ¥12,621,284 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

The Company pays monthly fees to its affiliates,
@NetHome and Kansai Multimedia, based on an
agreed-upon percentage of subscription revenue col-
lected by the Company from its customers for the
@NetHome and Kansai Multimedia services. Payments
made to @NetHome under these arrangements, prior
to it becoming a consolidated subsidiary, amounted to
¥1,585,691 thousand for the years ended December 31,
2002. Payments made to Kansai Multimedia under
these arrangements amounted to ¥2,882,494 thousand,
¥3,226,764 thousand and ¥3,380,148 thousand for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively. Such payments are included in operating
and programming costs in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations. In March 2002, @Net
Home became a consolidated subsidiary of the
Company [see Note 2], Therefore, since April 1, 2002,

through @NetHome, the Company receives the monthly
fee from its unconsolidated affitiates. Such service fees
amounted to ¥480,356 thousand, ¥1,071,891 thousand
and ¥1,242,550 thousand for the years ended December
31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and are included
in revenue-subscription fees in the accompanying con-
solidated statements of operations.

The Company has management service agreements
with SC and LMl under which officers and management
level employees are seconded from SC and LM to the
Company, whose services are charged as service fees
to the Company based on their payroll costs. The serv-
ice fees paid to SC amounted to ¥571,319 thousand,
¥706,303 thousand and ¥784,122 thousand for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
The service fees paid to LMl amounted to ¥761,009
thousand, ¥714,986 thousand and ¥665,354 thousand for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively. These amounts are included in selling,
general and administrative expenses in the accompany-
ing consolidated statements of operations.

SC, LMl and Microsoft had long-term subordinated
loans to the Company of ¥52,894,625 thousand,
¥52,894,625 thousand and ¥43,950,000 thousand,
respectively, at December 31, 2003. in December 2004,
the Company refinanced and replaced these subordinat-
ed shareholder loans under a new facility. See Note 6.

The Company pays fees on debt guaranteed by SC,
LMl.and Microsoft. The guarantee fees incurred were
¥413,128 thousand to SC, ¥361,627 thousand to LMI and
¥285,042 thousand to Microsoft for the year ended
December 31, 2002. The guarantee fees incurred were
¥84,224 thousand to SC, ¥73,470 thousand to LMI and
¥51,890 thousand to Microsoft for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The guarantee fees incurred were
¥41,071 thousand to SC, ¥41,071 thousand to LM and
¥16,332 thousand to Microsoft for the year ended
December 31, 2004, Such fees are included in interest
expense, net-related parties in the accompanying con-
solidated statements of operations. In December 2004
these guarantees were replaced by a guarantee facility
with a syndicate of lenders. See Note 6.




6. Long-term Debt

A summary of long-term debt as of December 31, 2003 and 2004 is as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004
¥140 billion Facility term loans, due fiscal 2005 — 2009 ..o ¥ 53000000 ¥ —
¥175 billion Facility term loans, due fiscal 2005 — 2011 .. - 130.000.000
Mezzanine Facility Subordinated loan due fiscal 2012 . — 50,000,000
8 yr Shareholder Subordinated loans, due fiscal 20171 .. 117,739,250 —
8 yr Shareholder Tranche B Subordinated loans, due fiscal 2011 ... 32,000,000 —
0% unsecured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2005 — 2019 ... 12,223,720 —
Unsecured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2005 — 2019,

interest fram 0.65% 10 6.8% ..o 3,895,400 —
0% secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2005 — 2019 ... 5,354,735 15.810,095
Secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2005 — 2019,

INTETESt At 0.90% 10 6.8%0 i e et - 3.614,200
0% unsecured loans from others, due fiscal 2012 ... PO ST 57.090 50.170

Less: current portion ......... RO PP SRR PR PP SOOI
Long-term debt, less current portion ..o

224,270,195 199.474,465
(2.438,480) (5.385.980)

..................................................... ¥221,831,715  ¥194,088,485

2003 Financing

On January 31, 2003, the Company entered into a ¥140
bitlion bank syndicated facility for certain of its man-
aged subsidiaries and affiliates ["¥140 billion Facility”].
In connection with the ¥140 billion Facility, on February
&, 2003, the Company entered into eight-year subordi-
nated loans with each of SC, LMI and Microsoft
{"Principal Shareholders”}, which initially aggregated
¥182 billion ["Shareholder Subordinated Loans”).

The ¥140 billion Facility was for the financing of Jupiter,
sixteen of its consolidated managed affiliates and one
managed affiliate accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. The financing was used for permitted general
corporate purposes, capital expenditures, financing costs
and limited purchase of minority shares and capital calls of
the affiliates participating in the ¥140 billion Facility.

The ¥140 billion Facility provided for term loans of up
to ¥120 billion and a revolving loan facility up to ¥20 bil-
lion with the final maturity of June 30, 2009. ¥32 billion
of the total term loan portion of the ¥140 billion Facility
was considered provided by the shareholders under the
Tranche B Subordinated Loans.

Interest was based on TIBOR, as defined in the ¥140
billion Facitity, plus margin which changed based upon a
leverage ratio of Total Debt to EBITDA as set forth in the
¥140 bitlion Facility agreement. At December 31, 2003,
the interest rate was 2.83%. The Shareholder
Subordinated Loans, which were subordinated to the

¥140 billion Facility, consisted of eight-year subordinated
loans and eight-year Tranche B Subordinated Loans. The
¥140 billion Facility had requirements to make mandato-
ry prepayments under specific circumstances as defined
in the agreements. Such prepayments are designated as
restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.

In May 2003, LMl and SC converted ¥32 billion of
Shareholder Subordinated Loans for 750,250 shares of
common stock of the company. At December 31, 2003,
the interest rate was 2.08%.

In December 2003, a consolidated subsidiary of the
Company became party to the ¥140 billion Facility.
Immediately prior to this transaction, the consolidated
subsidiary had outstanding ¥3,686,090 thousand to third-
party creditors. In connection with this transaction, a
third-party debt holder forgave ¥400,000 thousand of debt
owed to it. As a result, the Company recorded a gain of
¥400,000 thousand in other non-operating income in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2003. Additionally, the third-
party debt holder was issued ¥500,000 thousand of pre-
ferred stock of the consolidated subsidiary in exchange
for ¥500,000 thousand of debt owed to it [see Note 10).
The remaining ¥2,686,090 thousand of third-party debt
was repaid from proceeds of the ¥140 billion Facility.

In March 2004, the Company entered into additionat
shareholder subordinated loans of ¥2,431,000 thousand
each with SC and LMI. The aggregate ¥4,842,000 thousand
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of loan proceeds were used for the purchase of the
remaining shares of @NetHome [see Note 2). These addi-
tional shareholder subordinated loans had identical terms
to the Shareholder Subordinated Loans discussed above.

fn August 2004, LMI, SC and Microsoft made a capital
contribution to the Company in the aggregate amount of
¥30,000 million. The proceeds of this contribution were
used to repay an aggregate of ¥30,000 million of
Shareholder Subordinated Loans owed respectively in
the same amounts as contributed by LMI, SC and
Microsoft (see Note 1.

2004 Refinancing

On December 15, 2004, for the purpose of the refinancing
the ¥140 billion Facility, the Company entered into a ¥175
billion senior syndicated facility ("¥175 bitlion Facility”)
which consists of a ¥130 billion term loan facility ("Term

" Loan Facility"), a ¥20 billion revolving facility ["Revolving

Facility”) and a ¥25 billion guarantee facility ("Guarantee
Facility”). Concurrently the Company entered into a ¥50
billion subordinated syndicated loan facility ("Mezzanine
Facility”]. Consistent with the ¥140 billion Facility, the
¥175 billion Facility will be utilized for the financing of
Jupiter, sixteen of its consolidated managed affiliates,
one managed affiliate under the equity method account-
ing and ocne managed affiliate, which the Company has
no equity investment [“Jupiter Combined Group”). On
December 21, 2004, the Company made full drawdowns
from each of the ¥130 billion Term Loan Facility and the
¥50 billion Mezzanine Facility. The proceeds from the
December 2004 drawdown were used to repay all out-
standing loans under the ¥140 billion Facility and all out-
standing Shareholder Subordinated Loans.

The ¥130 billion Term Loan Facility consists of a five
year ¥90 billion Tranche A Term Loan Facility ["Tranche A
Facility”) and a seven year ¥40 billion Tranche B Term
Loan Facility ["Tranche B Facility”). Final maturity dates of
the Tranche A Facility and Tranche B Facility are
December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
Loan repayment of the Tranche A Facility and the Tranche
B Facility commence on September 30, 2005 and March
31, 2009, respectively, each based on a defined rate
reduction each quarter thereafter until maturity.

The ¥20 biltion Revolving Facility will be available for
drawdown until one month prior to its final maturity of

~ December 31, 2009. A commitment fee of 0.50% per

annum is payable on the unused available Revolving
Facility during its availability period.

The ¥25 billion Guarantee Facility provides for seven
years of bank guarantees on loans from the Development
Bank of Japan owed by affiliates of the Jupiter Combined
Group. The Guarantee Facility commitment reduces grad-
ually according to the amount and schedule as defined in
the ¥175 billion Facility agreement until final maturity at
December 31, 2011. As of December 31, 2004 the guaran-
tee commitment is ¥25 billion. Such guarantee commit-
ment will be reduced to ¥23.1 billion by December 2005;
¥21.6 billion by December 2006; ¥20.0 billion by December
2007; ¥18.6 billion by December 2008; ¥17.2 bitlion by
December 2009; ¥15.8 billion by December 2010; and to
¥13.2 billion by December 2011. A commitment fee of
0.50% per annum is payable on the unused available
Guarantee Facility during its availability period.

Interest on the Tranche A Facility, Tranche B Facility and
the Revolving Facility is based on TIBOR, as defined in the
agreement, plus the applicable margin. Each facility's
applicable margin is reducing based upon a leverage ratio
of Senior Debt to EBITDA as such terms are defined in the
¥175 billion Facility agreement. When the leverage ratio is
greater than or equal to 4.0:1, the margin on the Tranche A
Facility and the Revolving Facility is 1.50% per annum and
the margin of the Tranche B Facility ranges from 1.80% to
2.00% per annum; when less than 4.0:1 but greater than or
equal to 2.5:1 the margin on the Tranche A Facility and the
Revolving Facility is 1.38% per annum and the margin of
the Tranche B Facility ranges from 1.69% to 1.88% per
annum; when less than 2.5:1 but greater than or equal to
1.5:1 the margin on the Tranche A Facility and the
Revolving Facility is 1.25% per annum and the margin of
the Tranche B Facility ranges from 1.58% to 1.75% per
annum; and when less than 1.5:1 the margin on the
Tranche A Facility and the Revolving Facility is 1.00% per
annum and the margin of the Tranche B Facility ranges
from 1.35% to 1.50% per annum. In regards to the fees due
on the Guarantee Facility, when the leverage ratio is
greater than 4.00:1, the interest rate is 3.00% per annum;
when less than 4.00:1 but greater than or equal to 3.75:]
the interest rate is 2.00%; when less than 3.75:1 but
greater than or equal to 3.50:1 the interest rate is 1.50%;
when less than 3.50:1 but greater than or equal to 3.00:7
the interest rate is 1.00%; when less than 3.00:1 but
greater than or equal to 2.00:1 the interest rate is 0.75%;
and when less than 2.00:1, the interest rate is 0.50% per
annum. As of December 31, 2004 the interest rates for the
outstanding Tranche A Facility, Tranche B Facility, and
Guarantee Facility, were 1.6%, 1.9%, and 3.0% respectively.




The ¥175 billion Facility has reguirements to make
mandatory prepayments in the amount equal to (1] 50%
of the Group Free Cash Flow, as defined in the agree-
ment, until the later of (a) March 31, 2007 and (b] the first
quarter for which the ratio of Senior Debt to EBITDA, as
defined in the agreement, is less than 2.50:1.00; (2) 50%
of third party contributions received when the ratio of
Senior Debt to EBITDA is greater than 4.00:1.00; (3] pro-
ceeds from the sale of assets exceeding ¥500 mitlion that
are not reinvested within six months; (4] insurance pro-
ceeds exceeding ¥500 million that are not used to repair
or replace the damaged assets within twelve months;
and (5] proceeds of any take-out securities as defined in
the ¥175 billion Facility agreement. The ¥175 billion
Facility requires the Jupiter Combined Group to comply
with various financial covenants, such as Maximum
Senior Debt to EBITDA Ratio, Maximum Senior Debt to
Combined Total Capital Ratio, Minimum Debt Service
Coverage Ratio and Minimum Interest Coverage Ratio as
such terms are defined in the ¥175 billion Facility agree-
ment. In addition, the ¥175 billion Facility contains cer-
tain limitations or prohibitions on additional indebted-
ness. Additionally, the ¥175 billion Facility requires the
Company to maintain interest hedging agreements on at
least 50% of the outstanding amounts under the Tranche
A Facility. Due to the ¥175 billion Facility closing on
December 15, 2004, the Company was not reqguired to
calculate financial covenants for the fiscal year 2004.

The Mezzanine Facility contains a bullet repayment

Securities on Long-term Debt

upon final maturity at June 30, 2012. However, in the
event of an IPO by the Company, there is a mandatory
prepayment of the Mezzanine Facility of 100% from the
proceeds of such IPO. Interest on the Mezzanine Facility
is based on TIBOR, as defined in the agreement, plus an
increasing margin. The initial margin is 3.25% per
annum and increases 0.25% each successive three
month period from closing up to a maximum margin of
9.00% per annum. The Mezzanine Facility has identical
financial covenants as the ¥175 billion Facility.

As of December 31, 2004 the Company had ¥20 bitlion
revolving loans available for immediate borrowing
under the ¥175 billion Facility.

Development Bank of Japan Loans

The loans represent institutional loans from the
Development Bank of Japan, which have been made avail-
able to telecommunication companies operating in specif-
ic local areas designated as "Teletopia” by the MIC to facil-
itate development of local telecommunication network.
Requirements to qualify for such financing include use of
optical fiber cables, equity participation by local/municipal
government and quarantee by third parties, among other
things. These loans are obtained by the Company's sub-
sidiaries and were primarily guaranteed, directly or indi-
rectly, by SC, LMI and Microsoft. In connection with the
2004 refinancing described above, the guarantees by 5C,
LMI! and Microsoft have been cancelled and replaced with
guarantees pursuant to the Guarantee Facility.

At December 31, 2004, subsidiaries’ shares owned by the Company, trademark and franchise rights held by the Company
and substantially all equipment held by the Company’s subsidiaries were pledged to secure the loans from the
Development Bank of Japan and the Company's bank facilities. The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt out-

standing at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

Year ending December 31,

Thousands of Yen

................................................................................... ¥ 5,385,980

11.648.720
20.461.660
31.474,610
42,981,060
87520435
¥199.474.465
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7. Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries are obligated under various capital leases, primarily for home terminals, and other non-
cancelable operating leases, which expire at various dates during the next seven years. See Note 5 for further discussion
of capital leases from subsidiaries and affiliates of SC.

At December 37, 2003 and 2004, the amount of equipment and related accumulated depreciation recorded under capital
leases were as follows: '

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004

Distribution system and equipment : . ¥ 45170,512 ¥ 48,061.224
Support equipment and buildings ...... 6,656,913 6.594.499

Less: accumulated depreCiation ... (22,111,664)  (24.129.450)
Other assets, at cost, net of depreciation ... e e 292,511 209,669

¥30,008,272 ¥30.735.932

Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2004 are
as follows:

Thousands of Yen

Capital Operating

Year ending December 31, Leases Leases
200 e ¥10,479.258 ¥ 901,131
2006 e ettt 8,298,826 750,754
2007 o PO TP T PR U PO PP O U TP TUPPTOPON 5,997,212 626,332
2008 et 4,102,122 399,496
200 e e e e 2,810,622 383.100
More than five years ................ 2,686,635 703,288

Total minimum lease paymentis 34,374,675 ¥3,764,101

Less: amount representing interest [rates ranging from 1.10% to 5.99%} (2,570,124)

Present value of net MinimUmM PaYMENTS ...ttt 31,804,551

LSS CUTTENT POTTION oottt ettt e e et et nen e (9.529,241)

NORCUITENT POTEIOM Lot ettt e e ettt e e ¥22,275,310

The Company and its subsidiaries occupy certain offices occupy certain transmission facilities and use poles and
under cancelable lease arrangements. Rental expenses other equipment under cancelable lease arrangements.
for such leases for the years ended December 31, 2002, Rental expenses for such leases for the years ended
2003 and 2004, totaled ¥4,115 628 thousand, ¥4,134,249 Decemper 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, totaled ¥7,323,538
thousand and ¥3,970,228 thousand, respectively, and thousand, ¥8,542 845 thousand and ¥8,743,602 thou-
were included in selling, general and administrative sand, respectively, and are included in operating costs
expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements and programming costs in the accompanying consoli-

of operations. Also, the Company and its subsidiaries dated statements of operations.




8. Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to
Japanese national corporate tax of 30%, an inhabitant
tax of 6% and a deductible enterprise tax of 10%, which
in aggregate result in a statutory tax rate of 42%. On
March 24, 2003, the Japanese Diet approved the
Amendments to Local Tax Law, reducing the enterprise
tax from 10.08% to 7.2%. The amendments to the tax
rates will be effective for fiscal years beginning on or

after April 1, 2004. Consequently, the statutory income
tax rate will be lowered to approximately 40% for
deferred tax assets and liabilities expected to be settled
or realized on or after January 1, 2005 for the Company.

All pretax income/loss and related tax expense/bene-
fit are derived solely from Japanese operaticns. Income
tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2003 and 2004 is as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2002 2003 2004

CUTTENE oottt ¥256,763  ¥209,805 ¥1.812.785
DEfOITEA . oo e e - — 45,591
INCOME taX EXPENSE L.\ttt [T PSPPSR ¥256,763  ¥209,805 ¥1.858.377

The effective rates of income tax {benefit} expense relating to losses lincome} incurred differs from the rate that would
result from applying the normal statutory tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 is as follows:

2002 2003 2004
Normal effective StaEULANY tBX FETE .o e 42.0)% 42.0%  42.0%
Adjustment to deferred tax assets and liabilities for enacted changes in tax laws and rates ........... — - 0.1
Increase/[decrease] in valuation alloWanCe ... oo, 420 {41.2) 27.4)
DR T e e e 3.5 3.0 —
EFFECHIVE 18X TR .o et 35% 38% 147%

The effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31,

2003 and 2004 are as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Operating loss carryforwards ...

Deferred revenue
Lease obligation

Retirement and other allowances ..o SN
Investment in affiliates ...
Accrued expenses and other ...
Total gross deferred tax aSSets ...
Less: valuation allowance ...
Deferred tax @sSets .o

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property and eqUIPMENt ..o
Tax deductible goodwill ..o
DT e
Totel gross deferred tax liabilities ..o
Net deferred tax @SSets ...

........................................................ ¥ 29,921,448  ¥21649.833

14,165,581 14.455.010
12,452,252 12.721.820
1,390,741 1.459.068

......................................................... 794,896 567.766

2,485,228 3.978.505

61,210,146 54,832,002
(45,846,086)  (35.240,909)

15,364,060 19.591,093

12,680,631 13.796,923
633,185 —_
2,050,274 2,416,766

........................................................ 15,364,060 16.213.689

......................................................... ¥ — ¥ 3377404
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The net changes in the total valuation allowance for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 were
decreases of ¥8,985,905 thousand, ¥6,543,162 thousand
and ¥10,605,177 thousand, respectively.

Current deferred tax assets in the amount of
¥2,068,822 thousand are included in prepaid expenses
and non-current deferred tax assets in the amount of
¥1,308,582 thousand are included in other in non-cur-
rent assets in the accompanied consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2004.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
the Company considers whether it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
witl not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which those tem-
porary differences become deductible. The Company
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabili-
ties, projected future taxable income, and tax planning
strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the
level of historical taxable income and projections for

future taxable income over the periods in which the
deferred tax assets are deductible, management
expects to realize its deferred tax assets net of existing
valuation allowance. The Company had ¥343,918 thou-
sand of tax deductible goodwill as of December 31, 2004,

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December
31, 2003 and 2004 acquired in connection with business
combinations were ¥12,000 million and ¥7,267 million
[net of ¥3,423 million recognized during 2004), respec-
tively. If the deferred tax assets are realized or the valu-
ation allowance is reversed, the tax benefit realized is
first applied to i) reduce to zero any goodwill related to
acquisition, ii second to reduce to zero other non-cur-
rent intangible assets related to the acquisition and iii]
third to reduce income tax expense. See Note 4.

At December 31, 2004, the Company and its sub-
sidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards for
income tax purposes of ¥54,124,581 thousand which
were available to offset future taxable income. Net oper-
ating loss carryforwards, if not utilized, will expire in
each of the next five years as follows:

Year ending Decembe- 31,

Thousands of Yen

................................................................................... ¥17.501,242

20,094,037

55,494

TSSOSO TP P PSSP TSIUPPPPOPOS 10,751,591
.................................................................................... 5,722,217

¥54,124,587

9. Severance and R@tﬁf@m@m Plans

Under unfunded severance and retirement plans, sub-
stantially all full-time employees terminating their
employment after the three year vesting period are
entitled, under most circumstances, to lump-sum sev-
erance payments determined by reference to their rate
of pay at the time of termination, years of service and
certain other factors. No assumptions are made for
future compensation levels as the plans have flat-bene-

fit formulas. As a result, the accumulated benefit obli-
gation and projected benefit obligation are the same.
December 31, 2004 was used as the measurement date.

Net periodic cost of the Company and its subsidiaries’
plans accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87 for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
included the following components:

Thousands of Yen

2002 2003 2004

Service cost — benefits earned during the year ...
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation ...
Recognized actuarial 0SS . ....cccoovooeeviveeoooeeee oo, _—
Net PeriodiC COSt ..o e e e

......................................... ¥ 205,094 ¥ 257,230 ¥ 265608
........................................ 35,074

40,159 40,120
232,507 158,371 463,216

......................................... ¥ 472,675 ¥ 455760 ¥ 768,944




The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries’ plans
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 87 are as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation, bEginmING Of YEAT ..o s ¥1,606,371  ¥2,006,011
SBIVICE COST oottt e e e e e 257,230 265,608
Interest cost ..ol e 40,159 40,120
ACQUISTIIONS [NDEE 2] oottt — 30.630
ACTUBTIBL LSS ittt e e e e et 158,371 432,586
BEMEfItS DI .ee it et b et ee ettt (56.120) (93,288)
Benefit abligation, @Nd 0f YEar ..o ¥2,006,011  ¥2681.667

The weighted-average discount rate used in the determination of projected benefit obligation and net pension cost of the
Company and its subsidiaries’ plans as of and for the year ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 is as follows:

2002 2003 2004

Projected benefit obligation
Discount rate

........................................................................................................................................... 2.5% 2.0% 2.0%
Net pension cost

DS OUNE TBE e e e e e 3.0% 2.0% 2.0%

The estimated future benefit payments are:

Estimated Future Benefit Payments Thousands of Yen

¥ 105753

116,145

172,494

138,000

167,641

996,298

¥1,696,331
In addition, employees of the Company and certain of its 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and are included in
subsidiaries participate in a multi-employer defined provision for retirement allowance in selling, general

benefit plan. The Company contributions to this plan and administrative expenses in the accompanying con-

amounted to ¥324,521 thousand, ¥342,521 thousand and solidated statements of operations.
¥292,546 thousand for the years ended December 31,
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10. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On December 29, 2003, in connection with being includ-
ed as a party to the ¥140 billion Facility, a consolidated
subsidiary of the Company issued ¥500,000 thousand of
preferred stock to a third-party in exchange for debt
owed to that third party. All or a part of the preferred
stock can be redeemed after 2010, up to a half of the

11. Shareholders’ Equity

preceding year's net income, at the holder’s demand.
The hotder of the preferred stock has a priority to
receive dividends, however, the amount of such divi-
dends will be decided by the subsidiary’s board of direc-
tors and such dividend will not exceed ¥1,000 per pre-
ferred stock for any fiscal year and will not accumulate.

Dividends

Under the Japanese Commercial Code [the "Code”), the
amount available for dividends is based on retained earn-
ings as recorded on the books of the Company maintained
in conformity with financial accounting standards of Japan.
Certain adjustments not recorded on the Company's bocks
are reflected in the consolidated financial statements for
reasons described in Note 1. At December 31, 2004, the
accumulated deficit recorded on the Company's books of
account was ¥16,024,828 thousand. Therefore, no dividends
may be paid at the present time.

The Code provides that an amount equivalent to at least
10% of cash dividends paid and other cash outlays result-
ing from appropriation of retained earnings be appropriat-
ed to a legal reserve until such reserve and the additional
paid-in capital equal 25% of the issued capital. The Code
also provides that neither additional paid-in capital nor the
legal reserve are to be used for cash dividends, but may be
either (i} used to reduce a capital deficit, by resolution of
the shareholders; (i) capitalized, by resolution of the
Board of Directors; or (iii] used for purposes other than
those provided in (i) and (ii], such as refund made to share-
holders or acquisition of treasury stocks, but only up to an
amount equal to the additional paid-in capital and the
legal reserve less 25% of the issued capital, by resolution
of the shareholders. The Code provides that at least one-
half of the issue price of new shares be included in capital.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company maintains subscription-rights option plans
and stock purchase warrant plans for certain directors,
corporate auditors and employees of the Company's con-
solidated managed franchises and to directors, corpo-
rate auditors and employees of the Company’s unconsol-
idated managed franchises and other non-employees

{collectively the "Jupiter Option Plans”). The Company's
board of directors and shareholders approve the grant of
the Company’s ordinary shares at an initial exercise price
of ¥92,000 per share. The exercise price is subject to
adjustment upon an effective IPO to the lower of ¥92,000
per share or the IPO offering price.

Under Jupiter Option Plans, the number of ordinary
shares issuable will be adjusted for stock splits, reverse
stock splits and certain other recapitalizations and the
subscription rights will not be exercisable until the
Company's ordinary shares are registered with the Japan
Securities Dealers Association or listed on a stock
exchange. Non-management employees will, unless the
grant agreement provides otherwise, vest in two years
from date of grant. Management employees will, unless
the grant agreement provides otherwise, vest in four equal
installments from date of grant. Options under the Jupiter
Option Plans generally expire 10 years from date of grant,
currently ranging from August 23, 2010 to August 23, 2012.

The Company has accounted for awards granted to the
Company’s and its consolidated managed franchises’
directors, corporate auditors and employees under APB
No. 25 and FIN No. 44. Based on the Company's estimat-

" ed fair value per ordinary share, there was no intrinsic

value at the date of grant under the Jupiter Option Plans.
As the exercise price at the date of grant is uncertain, the
Jupiter Option Plans are considered variable awards.
Under APB No. 25 and FIN 44, variable awards will have
stock compensation recognized each period to the extent
the market value of the ardinary shares granted exceeds
the exercise price. The Company will be subject to vari-
able accounting for grants to employees under the
Jupiter Option Plans until all options granted are exer-
cised, forfeited, or expired. At December 31, 2002, 2003
and 2004, the market value of the Company’s ordinary




shares did not exceed the exercise price and no compen-
sation expense was recognized.

The Company has accounted for awards granted to
directors, corporate auditors and employees of the
Company’'s unconsolidated managed franchises and to
other non-employees, in accordance with SFAS No. 123
and EITF 00-12. As a result of cancellations, options out-
standing to directors, corporate auditors and employees of
the Company's unconsolidated managed franchises and to
other non- employees were 23,338 ordinary shares, 21,916
ordinary shares and 11,476 ordinary shares at December
31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. The Company

recorded compensation expense related to the directors,
corporate auditors and employees of the Company's
unconsolidated managed franchises and other non-
employees of ¥64,058 thousand, ¥117,359 thousand and
¥93 484 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2003 and 2004, respectively, which has been included in
selling, general and administrative expense for the
Company's non-employees and in equity in earnings of
affiliates for employees of affiliated companies in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The following table summarizes activity under the
Jupiter Option Plans:

Thousands of Yen

2002 2003 2004
Outstanding at beginning of the Year ... 132,712 159.004 181,764
Branted o e 30,576 41,958 29.730
L aNCB BT oo e, (4,284) (9,198) (8.418)
Outstanding at end of the year ..o 159,004 191,764 213.076
Weighted average €XerciSe PriCE ...ttt ¥ 92000 ¥ 92000 ¥ 92000
Weighted average remaining contractual life ... 8.0 years 7.4 years 6.6 years
Options exercisable, end of period ... - — _
Weighted average fair value of options granted ¥ 14,604 ¥ 18340 ¥ 24545 65

12. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For financial instruments other than long-term loans,
lease obligations and interest rate swap agreements,
the carrying amount approximates fair value because of
the short maturity of these instruments. Based on the

borrowing rates currently available to the Company for
bank loans with similar terms and average maturities,
the fair value of long-term debt and capital lease obli-
gations at December 31, 2003 and 2004 are as follows:

Thousands of Yen

2003 2004

Carrying . Carrying .
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Long-term debt .o ¥224.270,195  ¥220,114,532 ¥199,474,465 ¥199,127.222
L2858 0DUGALION o 31,130,629 32,328,048 31,804,551 30,125,734
Interest rate Swap agreements ... 694,745 694,745 8,204 8.204
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13. Supplemental Disclosures to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Thousands of Yen

2002 2003 2004

Cash paid during the year for:

ISt o e
TN DI EAX ot

Cash acquisitions of new subsidiaries:

Fair value of assets acquired.......ccooooviiiiiieii
Liabilities @assumed ...
Cash paid, net of cash acquired.............oevin,
Property acquired under capital leases during the year.................
Conversion of long-term debt into equity ...

.................................. ¥ 4,696,332 ¥ 4,408,426 ¥ 8588.285

.................................. ¥ — ¥ 378116 ¥ 323144
.................................. ¥20135,417 ¥ — ¥ 1.688.442
.................................. 21,991,647 — 1,245,532
.................................. ¥(1,856,230) ¥ — ¥ 442910
................................. ¥10,990,909 ¥ 6,057,250 ¥125061.285
.................................. ¥ —  ¥32,260,750 ¥ —

14. @@mmtm@mts

In connection with the September 1, 2000 acquisition of
Titus Communications Corporation ["Titus”], Microsoft
and the Company entered into a gain recognition agree-
ment with respect to the Titus shares and assets
acquired. The Company agreed not to sell during any
18-month period, without Microsoft consent, any shares
of Titus, or sell any of Titus' assets, valued at $35 mil-
lion or more, in a transaction that would result in tax-
able income to Microsoft. Microsoft will retain this con-
sent right until the earlier of June 30, 2006 or the date
Microsoft owns less than 5% of the Company’s ordinary
shares and Microsoft has sold, in taxable transactions,
80% of the Company's ordinary shares issued to it in
connection with the Titus acquisition.

15. Subsequent Events

The Company has guaranteed payment of certain bank
loans for its equity method affiliate investee, CATV Kobe,
and its cost method investees Kansai Cable Net and Bay
Communications Inc. The guarantees are based on an
agreed-upon proportionate share of the bank loans
among certain of the entities’ shareholders, considering
each of their respective equity interest. The term of the
guarantee ranges from 5 to 12 years and the aggregate
guaranteed amounts were ¥796,233 thousand, ¥722,531
thousand and ¥179,072 thousand as of December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Management believes
that the likelihood the Company would be required to
perform or otherwise incur any significant losses asso-
ciated with any of these guarantees is remote.

On February 9, 2005, the Company entered into a share
purchase agreement to purchase from Microsoft, LML,
and SC all of their interest in J:COM Chofu, as well as all
of the equity interest owned by Microsoft in Tu-Ka
Cellular Tokyo, inc. and Tu-Ka Cellular Tokai, Inc. ("Tu-
Ka") on or about February 25, 2005. The Company will pay
approximately $24 million (approximately ¥2,500 million)

to Microsoft, approximately ¥972 million to LMl and
approximately ¥940 million to SC for their respective
Chofu or Tu-Ka shares. Consideration for J:COM Chofu
shares will be in cash at closing, and the Tu-Ka shares
will be transferred in exchange for a non-interest-bearing
promissary note to Microsoft that is payable 5 business
days after a successful IPO in Japan by the Company.




INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. {3 Japanese cor-
poration) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These con-
solidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respansibility is to express an

opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a
basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence‘supportmg the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable

basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformi-

ty with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1{d] to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, effective January 1, 2002.

KPMG AZSA ¥ Co.

Tokyo, Japan
February 14, 2005
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OTHER INFORMATION

Corporate Information ias of Dec. 31, 2004)

Headquarters:

Date of Establishment:

Paid-in Capital:

Number of Shares Outstanding:
Number of Employees:

Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-30
Shiba Daimon, Minato-ku,
Tokyo, 105-0012, Japan
January 18, 1995

78.1 billion yen
5,146,074.74

2,743

*The number of employees is the
total for all the consolidated
companies based on U.S. GAAP.

Organization Chart (as of Feb. 1, 2005)

Stock Information

Stock Listing: Jasdag Securities Exchange

Code: 4817
Major Shareholders {As of Feb. 28, 2005)
Percentage of Total Issued Shares (%)
LMI/Sumisho Super Media, LLC ....oooocoiiiiiiviiieeceee e 65.2
MiCrosoft Group L. 195
Sumitomo Corporation .. 123
Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. ..o 1.5
Mitsui & Co., LEd. i 1.5

@? T—(mw [Eﬁﬁ(ﬂ@&[{iﬁmj 'SeniorAdvisor]

)

. — Iz
| Prestion & 650 Spedel Adviser i charge o
J Camperaie Planning &
m@%@m@
Kmm@

Advisor i

\ internal Auditing Dept.

Public Relations Dept.

Human Resources Dept.

Corporate Legal Dept.

Administration Dept.

Corporate Planning Dept.

Financial Planning & Analysis Dept.

General Accounting Dept.

Accounting Controlling Dept.

Treasury Dept.

IR Office

)——‘ SVP, Business Development Business Development Dept.

~1 SVP, Marketing Marketing Dept.

Sales Dept.

Customer Care & Operations Dept.

—lrsvp, AIT & Billing. J’—[ AIT & Billing Operations Dept.

AIT & Billing Dept.

—!m‘ Engineering j Procurement Dept.

Network Planning and Construction Dept.

Engineering and Technical Operation Dept.

3

Network Management Dept.

New Technology Dept.

EVP: Executive Vice President  SVP: Senior Vice President




J:COM Group

|As of Feb, 28, 2005)

Name

Paid-in Capital
(Yen in millions})

Percentage of voting
rights directly or
indirectly owned by us (%)

Managed Franchises

Cable Television Services Consolidated  J:COM Tokyo Co.,Ltd. 10,075 80.24
Kisarazu Cable Television Co.,Ltd."” 1,800 82.41
J:COM Gunma Co.,Ltd. 1,102 99.81
Cable Vision 21 Inc. 2,767 97.95
4:COM Kita Kyushu Co.,Ltd. 1,801 84.29
Hokusetsu Cable Net Co.,Ltd. 2,000 55.00
Tsuchiura Cable Tetevision Co.,Ltd. 1,500 70.33
Urawa Cable Television Network Co. Ltd. 1.600 50.10
J:COM Kansai Co. Ltd. 15,500 83.99
J:COM Shanan Co.,Ltd. 5,772 79.49
Cable Net Kobe Ashiya Co.,Ltd. 2,900 52.62
Media Saitama Co.,Ltd. 2,993 59.03
Cable Netwark Yachiyo Co.,Ltd.” 1,600 92.50
Super Network U Inc.” 3,395 59.09
J:COM Kanto Co.,Ltd. 30,004 100.00
J:COM Sapporo Co.,Ltd. 8,800 83.13°
J:COM Chofu Co.,Ltd. 2,525 92.09
Affiliate Fukuoka Cable Network Co. Ltd 2,000 45.00
Cable Net Shimonoseki Co.,Ltd. 1,000 50.00
Non-managed Franchises and Others
Internet Services Consolidated  @NetHome Co.,Ltd. 7,800 100.00
Cable Construction Services Consolidated  Cable Systems Engineering Corporation 490 100.00
Internet Services Affiliate Kansai Multimedia Services Co.,Ltd. 2,000 25.75
Video Programming Services  Affiliate Jupiter VOD Co.,Ltd. 490 50.00
Cable Television Services Affiliate Cable Television Kobe Inc. 2,000 20.44
Cable Television Services Affiliate Green City Cable TV Corporation 1,000 20.00

Notes: 1. Kisarazu Cable Television Co., Ltd., Cable Network Yachiyo Co., Ltd. and Super Network U Inc. has passed a resolution at their respec-
tive General Shareholders’ Meeting held on February 25, 2005 to merge on a equal basis. The new company will start as J:COM Chiba

Co., Ltd. from April 1, 2005.

2. J:.COM Sapporo Co., Ltd. is our sub-subsidiary company, an

d the percentage of voting rights shows our indirect ownership ratio.
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